

Project Number:	257639
Project Title:	ALICE: ADAPTIVE LEARNING VIA INTUITIVE/INTERACTIVE,
	COLLABORATIVE AND EMOTIONAL SYSTEMS
Instrument:	Specific Targeted Research Projects
Thematic Priority:	ICT-2009.4.2:Technology-Enhanced Learning
Project Start Date:	June 1st, 2010
Duration of Project:	24 Months
Deliverable:	D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2
Deliverable: Revision:	D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2 1.0
Deliverable: Revision: Work package:	D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2 1.0 WP2: Affective and Emotional Approaches
Deliverable: Revision: Work package: Dissemination Level:	D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2 1.0 WP2: Affective and Emotional Approaches Confidential
Deliverable: Revision: Work package: Dissemination Level: Due date:	D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2 1.0 WP2: Affective and Emotional Approaches Confidential February 29, 2012
Deliverable: Revision: Work package: Dissemination Level: Due date: Submission Date:	D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2 1.0 WP2: Affective and Emotional Approaches Confidential February 29, 2012 February 29, 2012
Deliverable: Revision: Work package: Dissemination Level: Due date: Submission Date: Responsible	D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2 1.0 WP2: Affective and Emotional Approaches Confidential February 29, 2012 February 29, 2012 CRMPA

PROJECT CO-FUNDED BY THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION WITHIN THE SEVENTH FRAMEWORK PROGRAMME (2007-2013)







Version History						
Version	Date	Changes	Contributors			
0.1	13/11/2010	Initial version.	CRMPA			
0.2	21/02/2011	Changes in structure.	CRMPA			
0.3	18/04/2011	Feedback from internal review.	CRMPA			
0.5	31/05/2011	Feedback from partner review.	MOMA			
0.6	06/06/2011	Feedback from partner review.	UOC			
1.0	10/06/2011	Formatting and minor changes.	CRMPA			
1.1	30/10/2011	Updating wrt the first version	CRMPA			
1.2	20/02/2012	Feedback from partner review	UOC			
1.3	24/02/2012	Feedback from partner review	MOMA			
2.0	29/02/2012	Updated version II year of activity	CRMPA			





Table of Contents

Introd	luction4
1 EN	MOTION AND E-LEARNING
1.1	MOTIVATION - EMOTIONS AND LEARNING
1.2	The Effect of Positive Emotions on Multimedia Learning7
1.3	The role of emotions in technology-supported learning environments9
2 Er	notions and Affectivity
2.1	Affectivity
2.2	Emotions
2.3	Origin and Formation of Emotions15
2.4	Emotions as Expressions
2.5	Emotions as Embodiments 17
2.6	Cognitive Approaches to Emotions18
2.7	Emotions as Social Constructs18
3 Br	rain and Learning
4 Tł	ne Circumplex Model of Affect
4.1	
4.2	Plutchik
4.3	Kort
4.4	Russel
4.5	OCC model
4.6	The Geneva Emotion Wheel (GEW)
5 Ca	omputational Models of Emotion
5.1	Appraisal theory
5.	1.1 Attitude and Evaluation
5.2	Dimensional Theories
5.3	Anatomic approaches
5.4	Rational approaches
5.5	Communicative approaches
6 Co	omputational Models for Emotional and Affection treatment
6.1	Introduction to the Model (I Alice year vs II Alice year)
6.2	Activation based on Competences
6.3	Activation based on Competences and Emotion 47
Refere	ences

Α·L·Ι·C·Ε



Introduction

The link between emotions and learning appears today more than ever to the focus of debate between those who deal professionally, both inside and outside the organization, training and people development. The increasing importance of emotions in educational processes is also reduced to background dynamics of the global nature of the view or at least transnational education and training and development, linked to the possibilities offered by technology, new ways and means of communication and learning.

For several years, in the epochal transition from the "teaching" to "learning, attention has focused on motivation to learn of individuals and groups within organizations, on the relationship between individual and organizational change, and between learning and performance (individual and group). Hence there is the importance of training more and more "personalized" and "reflective" to help the recipients develop critical autonomy, accountability, adaptability to change, empowerment (of themselves and of organizations). The focus has therefore shifted from content to process, from what we learn (which certainly remains a crucial aspect of) to the ways how we learn.

In this framework, the enhancement of the role played by emotions in relation to organizational processes and daily work practices has more obvious reflections of economic and productive nature, tied to very specific themes and objectives such as innovation and competitiveness. Thus, while the theories and models of managerial response to the challenges of the global socio-economic gradually abandoned the traditional approaches to nature "scientific-rational" in favor of a vision of "humanist" the management, in this first decade of the new millennium we have seen, albeit mostly in medium-large enterprises, development, impetuous though not always properly staffed, many educational practices related to the so-called emotional training. Training, then understood both as a set of methods, techniques, tools to stimulate and facilitate access to the subjective experience and generates new learning, both as to process more consciously and effectively manage their behavioral reactions and interpersonal relations. The emotional education as central to those places now, therefore, based on the integration of methodological approaches:

- the experiential dimension (individual and group), emphasized the use of place, context and setting specific and challenging learning (from the classic work of outdoor training on the size of the creative workshop);

- the use of different metaphorical models that more and more frequently refer to the narratives and artistic languages (using the endless archives of the various forms of art and narrative, from cinema to literature, from poetry to music), but also the development of expressive practices (training through the arts, the methods of theatrical, etc.).

But if all this has certainly aim to "bring into play the" persons, "out" and "beyond" the classroom, the need for primary education remains a strictly more than ever to produce experiences 'sense' Able to develop in people and groups untapped capacity, and new visions to be translated and applied in their own concrete, professional size (and staff). Therefore, knowing how to effectively manage and direct the emotions stimulated and encouraged throughout the training, remains today the main challenge in terms of training and learning.





1 EMOTION AND E-LEARNING

For Hilgard and Bower [1] "learning is the process by which an activity originates or it is changed to a situation encountered rising, assuming that the characteristics of change of cannot be explained on the basis of inclinations to innate answers, of maturation or of temporary states of the organism". Cannot be considered as such they reflections, tropisms, instincts, training, thought processes, fatigue and habit. There are more "types" of learning, from each other, and these types, in turn, must be accompanied by the constant reference to the procedures and techniques used for objective evidence of their relevant phenomena: they should always refer to methods of observation, or "paradigms". Technology education, the discipline that best represents the current teaching of e-learning, is the area most consistently explored the 'how' you can teach / learn with media and issues related to cognitive and social processes learning sustained by technology and network mediumship. Technology education is an interdisciplinary area which makes the center: the rational study, design, construction of learning environments and systems designed as complex socio-cultural artifacts aimed at favoring appropriate forms of learning.

Different juxtapositions of cognition and emotion are evident in various teaching/learning theory frameworks. Some of these frameworks recognize the importance of emotion but position the affective domain as being somehow separate from, but nevertheless providing a basis for, functioning in the cognitive domain. In the tradition of Bloom's [1], Bloom and Masia's [1] taxonomies of cognitive and affective objectives, the existence of these two educationally relevant domains is acknowledged, but they are positioned as being distinct from each other. This underpinning model persists in studies such as McLeod's [1] review of research into emotion and learning in mathematics, which identifies separate cognitive and affective domains. Shelton [1], too, writing of the importance of emotion in learning addresses the need to develop certain 'emotional competencies' before learning can proceed satisfactorily. Similarly, Postle [1] talks of the importance of 'emotional competence' in relation to learning. In his terms, learning can be inhibited by emotional incompetence.

Another perspective sees emotion as being associated with cognition in some kind of parallel way. Gardner's [1] theory of multiple intelligences (including intrapersonal and interpersonal intelligences) and Goleman's [8] theory of emotional intelligence both construct emotion as analogous to the more traditional cognitive 'intelligence'. Emotion is somehow like cognition but operating in another, parallel, realm. 'Our emotions have a mind of their own, one which can hold views guite independently of our rational minds'. This vital connection between emotion and the cognitive processes of attention, memory and decision-making is being recognized by a range of researchers and practitioners [9] [10] and the practical implications of this are beginning to be felt. The centrality of emotion in many cognitive processes is now being acknowledged. A critiques of research in the area claim that the research focuses on the technology, resource efficiency, policy and pedagogy, with little exploration of the student experience and the implications of that [11]. There has, however, been some research into the student experience, and even into the emotions associated with that experience. Kort, Reilly and Picard [1], for example, are attempting to develop a model of emotion related to various phases of learning. They have identified several axes specifying a range of emotional states and hope eventually to devise a computer-based system whereby both learner and teacher can recognize the student's emotional position in relation to learning. There have also been studies of online learning in which emotion: the emotion is associated with learning online, there has been little exploration of the extent, nature and significance of this. The growing body of research and scholarship relating to emotion and learning generally indicates the significant part that emotion plays in learning. Models of learning online are still being developed. It is important that the opportunity not be lost to include the emotional dimension in this development, so that the theory and practice of teaching and learning online can be





the richer for it and the more authentic. Research, qualitative and quantitative, large-scale and small should be carried out in a range of teaching and learning settings to inform more fully the theory and practice of teaching and learning online.

1.1 MOTIVATION - EMOTIONS AND LEARNING

The neurobiology of emotions suggests that not only are learning, attention, memory, and social functioning, affected by, and in fact, subsumed within emotional processes, but also that our repertoire of behavioral and cognitive options has an emotional basis. This relationship underscores the importance of the ability to perceive and incorporate social feedback in learning Indeed [14], recent evidence from educational research supports the relationship of emotion with cognitive, motivational and behavioral processes [15]. The seminal works of Boekaerts [1] Pekrun et al [1] and Turner, Husman & Schallert [1] have pioneered the renewed surge of interest in affect and learning in educational research.

Motivation is one emotion strongly linked to learning and has been defined as a person's direction, intensity and persistence in an activity. Students with high intrinsic motivation often outperform students with low intrinsic motivation. A slight positive approach by a student is often accompanied by a tendency toward greater creativity and flexibility in problem solving, as well as more efficiency and thoroughness in decision-making [51]. If student motivation is sustained throughout periods of disengagement, students might persevere to a greater extent through frustration [46]. Studies of motivation in learning consider the role of intrinsic versus extrinsic influences, self efficacy, students' beliefs about their efficacy, the influence of pleasurable past learning experiences, feelings of contributing to something that matters and the importance of having an audience that cares, among other factors [52] [53] [54] [55] [56]. Theories of motivation are often built around affective and cognitive components of goal directed behavior [57] [58] [59]. Flow, or optimal experience is often defined as a feeling of being in control, concentrated and highly focused, enjoying an activity for its own sake, or a match between the challenge at hand and one's skills [60]. In direct contrast Stuck, or a state of nonoptimal experience, is characterized by elements of negative affect and includes a feeling of being out of control, a lack of concentration, inability to maintain focused attention, mental fatigue and distress [45]. The phenomenon of "negative asymmetry" or the staying power of negative affect, which tends to outweigh the more transient experience of positive affect, is also an important component of learning and motivation [60].

In a series of qualitative case-studies, Pekrun et al [1] demonstrated that learners experience a rich diversity of positive and negative emotions; the most frequently reported being: anxiety, enjoyment, hope, pride, and relief, as well as anger, boredom and shame. With the help of an Academic Emotions Questionnaire (AEQ) they studied the effects of these emotions on learning and achievement with cognitive and motivational mechanisms like motivation to learn, strategies of learning, cognitive resources, and self regulation. Using dimensions of valence (positive vs. negative) and activation they distinguished four groups of emotions with reference to their performance effects - positive activating emotions (such as enjoyment of learning, hope, or pride); positive deactivating emotions (e.g., relief, relaxation after success, contentment); negative activating emotions (such as anger, anxiety, and shame); and negative deactivating emotions (e.g., boredom, hopelessness). Based on a decade of research on motivation and a diverse study of learner-teacher interactions, Meyer and Turner [1] discovered the inseparability of emotion, motivation and cognition; and stress for integrated approaches to treat these as equal components in the social process of learning. They report their findings as serendipitous, to emphasize the presence of emotion in instructional interactions. Kort, Reilly & Picard [1] propose a spiral model that combines the phases of learning using emotion axes. The horizontal emotion axes range from negative to positive across different emotion sets like anxietyconfidence, boredom-fascination, frustration-euphoria, dispirited encouraged and terror-enchantment.

ALICE - FP7-ICT-2009.4.2-257639 - D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2





The vertical axis is the learning axis representing the transition between constructive learning and unlearning. This model assumes that the learning experience involves a range of emotions in the space of the learning task and visualizes the movement of a learner from one quadrant to another. In a bid to understand the emotional dimension of learning, O'Regan [1] explored the lived experience of students learning online. The study identifies both positive and negative emotions experienced by students, significantly - frustration, fear/anxiety, shame/embarrassment, enthusiasm/excitement and pride. These had a variable effect on the learning process depending on the strength and nature of the emotion, as well as the learning context. Using a manual affect coding system, Craig et al [1] observed the occurrence of six affect states during learning with an intelligent tutoring system. They analyzed frustration, boredom, flow, confusion, eureka and neutral and found significant relationships between learning and the affective states of boredom, flow and confusion. More recently, Jarvenoja and Jarvela [1] and Wosnitza and Volet provide [1] empirical evidence from participants in social online learning to categorize sources of emotional experience along self, task, context or social directedness to highlight the impact of students' emotions on their motivation and engagement in the learning process. In essence, learning has a strong affective quality that impacts overall performance, memory, attention, decision making and attitude. We [1] know from a multitude of studies in different educational contexts, that learners experience a wide range of positive and negative emotions. These emotions are situated and have social and instructional antecedents. For the discourse to be effective, it is imperative then to have access to and ensure the emotional well-being of learners. Computerbased learning environments have long ignored this aspect and have concentrated mostly on modeling the behavior of a learner in response to a particular instructional strategy [1]. Since learning with computers is essentially self-paced, assessing the learner's experience becomes important. Detection of learner's affective states can be helpful not only in adapting the tutorial interaction and strategy, but also in contributing to an understanding of emotional behavior and its relation to learning, thereby facilitating an optimal learning experience.

1.2 The Effect of Positive Emotions on Multimedia Learning

In designing multimedia-based learning, various studies have implied that different aesthetic designs can induce emotions and that these emotions affect users' performance and cognitive process. Also, users' positive perceptions about the multimedia program and learning (e.g., in Tractinsky et al. (2000) [26] and Wolfson & Case (2000)'s studies imply that positive emotions were produced by the different design of multimedia elements such as layout, color, and sound.

In recently study [27] examine the effect of positive emotions in a learning context, and try to identify strategies of inducing positive emotions in multimedia-based learning through the instructional design of the learning material. The research questions of this study are, 1) whether the positive emotions induced before the learning are maintained throughout the learning process so that they can affect the learners?; 2) can positive emotions be induced by the aesthetic design of the learning material?; and 3) what is the effect of positive emotions in multimedia learning on performance (retention and transfer tests), cognitive load, and learner satisfaction with regard to the learning material. The Effect of Positive Emotions on Multimedia Learning induce positive emotions and neutral emotions, a self-referencing mood induction procedure developed in [28] [29]. The procedure was developed for inducing moods states in the laboratory that were useful in the study of cognition and emotion. Out of three mood-inducing states of happy, sad, and neutral (control) in the original instrument, this study used happy and neutral mood induction procedures.







Figure 1-1 Computer-based lesson of "How immunization works"[29].

Computer-based lesson of 'How immunization works' was used as multimedia learning material (Figure 1-1). This multimedia instructional presentation was developed by the first author using Macromedia FlashTM and HTML. Contents and instructional design of the materials were reviewed by 3 instructional design professionals. To manipulate affect, two different designs were implemented; 'neutral emotional design' aims to generate neither positive or negative emotions, and 'positive emotional design' aims to generate positive emotions. The 'positive emotional design' version was revised from the neutral one to have better quality in aesthetic design using emotional design principles (Lidwell, Holden, & Butler, 2003) [30] such as color combination, immersion and the aesthetic usability effect. To assure that the only design change between the two versions of the material were of aesthetic nature, both designs had the same amount of content, length and also followed the same usability and multimedia design principles (Mayer, 2001) [31].

This study suggests that positive emotions can be induced from the learning material through the quality of the aesthetic design. The result of the transfer test supports that positive emotions promote knowledge construction and problem solving, which is consistent with the facilitation hypothesis of emotions. Previous research has suggested that positive emotions would increase cognitive load in working memory, and that aesthetic design could result in increased extraneous cognitive load [32]. It seems that if either positive emotions or good design quality of material is presented during the learning process, learners invested more mental effort, but if both manipulations are presented at the same time, they would not. Also, the result shows that positive emotions lead to increased levels of satisfaction for the same learning material, indicating that people appraise more positively in learning context when they are in good mood. In instructional design, especially in multimedia learning, emotions have been used as outcomes of instructional design as a part of affective domains, but rarely as factors that influence the learning process and cognition. this experimental study attempted to investigate emotions and their affect on cognitive process in the context of learning, the study has important theoretical and practical implications. On a theoretical level, it shows that there is significant effect of emotions on learning and mental effort investment. It also indicates that positive emotions can be generated by the instructional design and that they may be able to affect learners' experience and performance too. On a practical level, this study implies that positive emotions should be considered as important factors that should be incorporated into instructional design. Emotional design principles should be studied in more detail to allow for the design of better instructional materials.



1.3 The role of emotions in technology-supported learning environments

The term technology-enhanced learning is related to the jump methodology which is characterized by teaching strategies that respond to an e-learning approach that looks at the integration of technology in education and learning based on solid foundations pedagogical and didactic. In general, an innovative approach to e-learning technologies and solutions is based on pedagogical drivers. Technology-enhanced learning environment involves the abandon of the metaphor of "course" in favor of that of the "learning environment " as the organizing concept of teaching resources in paths with significant functional learning Experiences. Today's educational elements that support its transformative learning processes must be able to listen and control the emotional and affective component in order to use it as leverage in the project functional training for every learner.

Modeling student emotion has become increasingly important for computational teaching systems and emotion has been named as one of the twelve major challenges for cognitive science [43]. Human emotion is often defined as an intuitive feeling derived from one's circumstance, mood or relation with others. Teachers have long recognized the central role of emotion in learning and the extent to which emotional upsets can interfere with mental life. Student interest and active participation are important factors in the learning process [44]. Students learn less well if they are anxious, angry, or depressed; students who are caught in these states do not take in information efficiently or deal with it well [45] [23] [46].

Several studies have addressed emotions involved in learning (e.g. [47] [48] [49]. Human emotion is completely intertwined with cognition in guiding rational behavior, including memory and decisionmaking. Studies have shown that a satisfactory decision-making is impossible without emotion. It is widely accepted that cognition cannot be completely understood whether or not emotions are taken into account and that there are intense interactions between the cognitive and affective behavior. Research findings to date shows the complexity and difficulty of the implementation of intelligent systems that as stated in the studies on Affecting Computing in advanced e-learning environment should be able to express emotions, recognize them and adjust their production to raise the interest and attention of the student. It is commonly agreed that emotions have a strong impact on our behaviour. Students with well developed abilities and trained skills show the expected behaviour if they get motivated by internal or external emotional triggers. Strong negative emotions as fear and anxiety can block the learning behaviour. Happiness has a positive effect on the learning behaviour. But emotions and their impact on the e-learning behaviour are not well understood and a lot of research is needed. Some students miss the social support and interaction in e-learning environment. A strong motivation, discipline and time scheduled learning is needed to survive in a distant learning environment. The importance of a proper appreciation of the learners' social context is stressed, as is the concept of the 'virtual self' that individual learners may choose to portray during online communication. Ng [71] reported about online learners showing fear during electronic communication. Students educated with Twitter, Weblogs and facebook probably require social and communicating abilities to handle his negative emotions. Hara and Kling [68] studied the frustration on line learners experience with badly designed or non-functioning online learning environments. In [73] Rothkrantz introduced e-learning in virtual environments. A virtual University was designed in Second Life. The focus was on the design of emotion in the social interactions of students represented as virtual characters (Avatars).

Technology-rich learning environments are gradually assuming a key role in individual learning processes. Still, one of the major IT challenges identified in Education field is to establish e-learning as a credible and viable complement to face-to-face education. This represents a paradigm shift in the way of learning, and define challenges that dictate new requirements. Among these new requirements, to address the impact of online communication on learning effectiveness calls for





alternatives approaches. Research work in related fields as affective computing and education [33] [34] [35], has been progressively showing the impact of emotions on cognitive processes. We think that supporting instructors managing educational processes in a way to minimize negative impact on learners' emotions will positively contribute to learning effectiveness. Based on the literature and empirical work, we can conceptually describe the role of emotions in e-learning environments and share some preliminary results obtained within an e-learning experience. We expect to contribute to a better understanding of the way emotions could improve learning effectiveness in technology-enhanced learning experiences. Within learning environments, current e-learning results show no consistent and integrated findings to support the effectiveness of e-learning as a strategic tool to develop knowledge and skill acquisition [36]. This suggests that systems are not adequately prepared and coached to effectively benefit from technology-supported learning.

Reviewed literature identified several sources of influencing individual variables on learning during HC (Human- Computer) interaction. Coleman (1995) stated that instructors know very well the impact of affective states on mental activity; since anxious, depressed or angry students simply do not effectively perceive or transform information. A typical learner can experience several emotions (joy, excitement, frustration, fear, sadness, anxiety, etc.) along his/her learning process. By definition, emotion is a sequence of interrelated, synchronized changes in the states of all organism subsystems (cognition, motivation, action, subjective feeling) in response to the evaluation of a significant external or internal event. An emotion involves a somatic (physical) and an affective component; thus, involving perceptions, action plans and associated feelings. Emotions are integral part of cognitive processes. Emotions are induced by significant external (such as threatening events, scaring or pleasant situations) or internal events (such as mental conflict or unconsciously blocking desired goals). They affect the structuring of the emotional life and individual responses in specific interactions with its environment. This way, same stimuli could be of different meaning to several people. Normally, they last a short time but influence individual motivation to perform, beliefs, cognition, and actions of particular interest within e-learning environment is the development of self-efficacy beliefs of learners, because of this paradigm shift. Figure 1-1 shows the effects of different patterns of efficacy beliefs and performance outcome expectancies on behaviour and affective states (Bandura, 1997). This view help to define intervention strategies in order to foster productive engagement and student satisfaction.



Outcomes expectancies

Figure 1-2 Efficacy beliefs and Outcomes expectancies [37].

To achieve learning effectiveness, we believe that the instructional path should be from apathy to productive engagement and personal satisfaction, and intervention strategies should be defined to achieve this instructional goal. Even though, emotions were out of scientific discourse most part of

ALICE - FP7-ICT-2009.4.2-257639 - D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2





last century, current e-learning results suggest that affective states could be the missing variable to better personalize online learning. Affective states are propensities to appraise events. The management of these emotions determines how behaviors of confusion, boredom or frustration are overcome; that is, keeping energy focused into cognitive processes to achieve defined goals despite negative stimuli and associated emotions. However, emotions associated to learning should be managed to maximize engagement, participation and effective learning. Kort, et al. (2001)'s [38] proposed model, associated five sets of emotions, related to learning processes and cognitive dynamics, to knowledge development. This model exposes the complexities involving learning process, and suggests a capability to diagnose emotional states and define proper interventions. Next some very preliminary results when exploring emotions within a pre-set technology-supported learning experience. we present in table 1 proposed basic emotions and learning events within a learning environment that may influence learners' emotions along their learning processes.

The affectivity affects learning and cognitive processes. The biological fact, a part of our limbic brain region that is home to the emotion and is linked to the environment through the afferent pathways that convey to the brain sensations and perceptions and is integrated to the cerebral cortex. "Affects, then, are "the original magma of the self", "the building blocks of his identity, "as the subject and dominate the structure. Between emotional processes and learning there is a deep connection, because it "is growing in a loving relationship." The educational relationship means existential presence of the educator to the student. Buber [40] argues, in fact, that through "complementarily and contain (Gegenseitigkeit und Umfassung)" creates a dialogue between teacher and student, which illustrates a profound feeling of deep trust and "the commitment to be and to continue to be the one to the other."

Learning is not "mere passive assimilation of content preparation and pre-packaged", but for the strong component of emotional and cognitive activation "is a challenge and an adventure that involves an act of trust that is the courage to dive into the insecure and into the unknown". Some forms of social disadvantage, success or failure at school, anxiety and disorganization, poor self-esteem and insecurity, dependent on the early experiences of learning and must absolutely be taken into account by the teacher. Learning processes have also mostly occurs within a relational context, so the quality of communicative interactions influence the characteristics of the learning experience itself.

Since individuals form their identity through a process unit, based on the interaction between the different dimensions of personality, "affectivity full, authentic, safe inevitably ends up exercising a positive influence on other dimensions of personality: from that body to the intellectual, social (..) ". Bloom [41], in fact, believes that there is a close relationship between emotions and motivation and learning, as the affective variables exert a significant in the processes of knowledge, understanding and socialization that take place in the school. According to the psychoanalytic theories that each of us once again how to relate to others and with reality, it appears to refer to interpersonal relationships in the first years of life, or to affect and behavior during the infancy within the familiar environment, and especially the relationship with the mother, who is the security and availability and the father, who embodies the internalization of duty. In every meaningful interpersonal relationship, then unconsciously relational patterns experienced in childhood with parents (transference), which have the character to reactivate the primary relationship.

Further research is needed to better understand these cognitive and affective interrelations. This might be of value to improve the quality of the learning experience; for example Figure 1-2, students' degree of desirability for specific learning events, most disturbing/stressful learning events and the like (Jaques &Viccari, 2004) [39].

ΑΙΟΕ



Learning events	Yor	Excitement	Frustration	Fear	Confusion	Anxiety
1. Lack of support tools, guidance, feedback, structure and staff support			+		+	+
2. Unreasonable learning goals	-			+		+
3. Perceived ambiguity or unclear expectations about evaluation events (quizzes, assignments, exams)		-				+
 System unavailability and /or unreliable behaviour 		-	+			+
5. Delay in getting responses from instructors					+	+
6. Timely availability of learning content before quizzes or exams			+			+
7. Unnecessary competitive pressure		-				+
8. Low level of procedural justice	-		+		+	+
9. Lack of timely general and specific feedback	-					+
10. Instructor unavailability or lack of instructor support			+			
12. Repeatedly making mistakes when applying learned concepts	-					
11. Participation in Forum or Chat with unclear rules or functioning		-	+			+
12. Lack of proper writing / communication skills to participate online			+	+		+

Figure 1-3 degree of desirability for specific learning events [39].

the research has identified four building blocks for affective e-learning system: (1) a set of basic emotions normally surfacing when learning, (2) learners' perceptions on what are the most stressful e-learning environments' events, (3) perceived impact of those events on individual learning goals, and (4) the event's degree of desirability to understand its impact on specific students' emotions (Kort et al., 2001 [38]; Jaques & Viccari, 2004 [39]). The biggest challenges relate to capture, recognise, process of emotions, and influence users to achieve their learning goals. Innovative approaches are needed to balance affective computing, as well as to carefully deploy and monitor the impact of these changes on organizational socio-technical systems.

As a general conclusion, in technology- supported learning environments, effective means affective learning. Table II compares previous work in affect sensing in learning environments to emphasize the range in the affect constructs measured, the information sources used, the learning contexts in which the study was done and the specific computational approach adopted. However, lack of common evaluative criteria makes a straightforward comparison difficult. A consistent theme that emerges from education literature is that teaching and learning are essentially emotional practices. Learners experience a wide range of emotions and these influence their cognitive functioning and performance. Access to emotions is then important to ensure optimal learning, more so in the case of computer-based learning environments.





2 Emotions and Affectivity

Despite the few attempts to understand and define *emotion*, literature is still lacking from a widely acceptable definition to discriminate it from *affect* or *mood*. In line with Davou (2007) and Zimmernann (2008), we suggest the following discrimination:

- *Emotion* (derives from the Latin prefix emot=moving away) refers to a "shaking" of the organism as a response to a particular stimulus (person, situation or event), which is generalized and occupies the person as a whole. It is usually an intense experience of short duration seconds to minutes and the person is typically well aware of it.
- *Affect* is a synthesis of all likely effects of emotion (cognitive, organic, etc) and includes their dynamic interaction, but is not evened individually with any of them.
- Feeling is always experienced in relation to a particular object of which the person is aware. It
 may have various levels of intensity, and its duration depends on the length of time that the
 representation of the object remains active in the mind of the individual.
- *Mood* tends to be subtler, longer lasting, less intensive, more in the background, giving the affective state of a person a tendency in positive or negative direction.

In general, affect is the effect of emotion in the organism. Mood is a result as well as an influencing factor of emotion.

2.1 Affectivity

Contemporary culture puts overly emphasize the emotions and it can virtually be the only criterion for choice and decision. It is often said: "I do if I feel", "I do not feel." What is this "feeling"? The "feeling" is an emotional aspect of our reality with the moods and emotions. But if you are not clear what is and what is liable to render the emotions the more valuable it has to give to our humanity. The definition of affect is complex. For simplicity, it can display in two respects:

- 1. Resonance (the effect) that occurs in us in terms of pleasure and pain about the satisfaction or otherwise of a person's needs (hunger, thirst, need for friendship).
- 2. The appearance energy (as a kind of psychological fuel) that leads and supports an action or behavior to help meet a need. The number one indicates whether the objective has been achieved, while No. two is the energy to reach the goal. Now we can cycle through the three typical expressions of affect human emotions, moods and feelings.

The affection is one of the basic aspects of personality and it consists of individual reactions to the environment in terms of emotions, feelings, moods, and passions. It should be emphasized, in particular, the relational dimension of affect that is the fact that it's obvious when it comes to re create a tank or long-term relationship of the subject with people, facts and experiences of life in general. The affection is evident even in the absence of facts and experiences that have prompted initially by intervening in this case the memory, based; of course, on memory processes and the causes that make it resurface in a more or less unexpected or will of the same subject. The positive emotional relationships are essential for the harmonious maturity of an individual because they facilitate and thus support any educational process.





2.2 Emotions

Emotions are the feelings that color our lives and allow us to experience all of the joys and sorrows of life. Dr. Paul Ekman, an expert in the field of emotion, has identified four core emotions that are universally experienced and recognized: fear, anger, sadness and enjoyment. Most researchers believe that there are many families or dimensions of these emotions that result from the myriad blends, variations and nuances that are possible. For example, sorrow, loneliness, grief, dejection and despair are associated with sadness while happiness, joy, delight, contentment and amusement are associated with enjoyment.

There has been a long history of viewing emotion as separate from cognition, and a long-held belief that emotion is inferior to thinking; that it is, in fact, not to be trusted [63]. Dating back to early Greek culture, this line of thinking has influenced philosophers and scholars for centuries, and to this day has its advocates in the fields of cognition and artificial intelligence (AI). It wasn't until the late 19th century and early 20th century that the earlier theories of William James [64] and those of Benjamin Bloom [1] and others began to counter this idea. Their view, that emotion was central to cognition, has slowly become a growing movement that considers emotion with increasing respect.

Although this direction of psychological research began to have an impact on the field of science, for the most part emotion continued to be suspect and throughout the latter part of the 20th century neuroscience and cognitive science dismissed emotion as irrational and not to be trusted in the laboratory. Newer research in the fields of neurobiology and psychology that look at emotions in terms of corresponding brain function is beginning to reveal the critical relationship between behavior, cognition, and emotion and the significance of viewing them as integral, rather than conflicting, components [65] [66]. Other researchers are developing appraisal theories of emotion [67], for example, describe the close interactions between cognitive, affective, and motivational processes. This research recognizes emotion as a sequence of "state" changes in all subsystems of an organism and as playing a central role in goals and needs. This approach puts strong emphasis on synchronization and interlinking.

Still others are looking at the intelligence of the emotions and the importance of becoming aware of and understanding emotions [7] [68]. These researchers view emotions as responses that are organized and cross the boundaries of our psychological subsystems that include those of the body, mind, motivation, and experience. In his theory of multiple intelligences, Gardner [6] [69] identifies emotion as an intelligence under the categories of inter and intrapersonal intelligence. Those who are emotionally intelligent, argues Gardner, understand the feelings and motives of others and are aware of their own feelings and motivations. They also tend to be self-motivated. Gardner's work has had a profound influence on researchers and educators. Salovey and Sluyter [70] state that "emotional intelligence involves the ability to perceive accurately, appraise, and express emotion; the ability to access and/or generate feelings when they facilitate thought; the ability to understand emotion and emotional knowledge; and the ability to regulate emotions to promote emotional and intellectual growth" (p.10). It is important to note that there are two sides to emotion. According to Salovey and Mayer [71] and others [72], emotions may be used wisely for positive purposes or for purposes of negative manipulation [73].

These researchers argue that emotions focus our perceptions on particular aspects of a situation and are fundamental to our ability to function. Emotions, they say, allow us to attend to situations and arrive at thoughtful decisions. The more we become aware of our emotions, the more we are able to use them in connection with the thought process, clarify our perceptions, and make decisions most appropriate to a given situation. Increased connectivity between cognition and emotion may be the key to their working together rather than separately [73]. It is informative that MIT is basing its Learning Companion project on the interplay of emotion, cognition, and learning. This project is developing an affective companion prototype that will provide emotional support to students in the learning process, assisting them by helping alleviate frustration and self-doubt [33]. Emotions, however, are to be

ALICE – FP7-ICT-2009.4.2-257639 – D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2





viewed not only in individual terms but also in socio-cultural terms; that is, emotions exist within individuals and between and among them as they relate to and interact with one another [6]. This way of thinking necessarily leads to questions of relationships and value. Denzin [74] and others [19] [75] argue that emotional understanding occurs as people draw from their individual emotional experiences and respond to and judge the assumed states of those around them. Emotional understanding, trust, and high quality emotional skills are critical to relationships. This is particularly important in the teaching, learning relationship [76].

The emotional domain is complex and includes: 1) emotion, a complex and usually strong subjective response; 2) affect, emotion as distinguished from thought or action; and 3) feelings, which result from emotional experiences. In addition, the emotional domain encompasses attitudes and values, morals and ethics, and personal development [77]. Our naivety of the emotional domain, our lack of ability to identify emotions, our deficiency in understanding the way emotions work in the individual thought process, our low level of comprehension of emotional skill development, and our paucity of knowledge about ways emotion might be integrated into our social interactions, lead to critical areas for research. In summary, emotions are central to the manner in which we perceive, experience, and learn. They are adaptations that can work in harmony with the intellect and are crucial to the functioning of the whole mind [78]. According to [79], emotion should be placed at the very center of research rather than relegated to the periphery.

2.3 Origin and Formation of Emotions

Emotions originate in the brain, specifically in the limbic system. The limbic system is a small structure located in the middle of the brain between the lower center or brainstem and the higher center or cortex. The brainstem controls alertness and arousal and sends sensory messages to the cortex via the limbic system. Much of our thinking and learning takes place in the cortex. Memory, an important component of learning, involves the limbic system.

The limbic system interprets and directs emotion and behavior. Priscilla Vail [80], an expert on learning, has described emotion as the "on-off switch to learning". According to Mrs. Vail, when the switch is off, the system is dormant and only the potential for learning is available. When the switch is on, the pathway to learning is open. When the limbic system interprets sensory information and dispatches it to the cortex for processing, it sets the emotional tone of the information before it reaches the cortex. If the limbic system interprets the information as positive, it dispatches a message of purpose and excitement and directs our behavior toward a goal. When this happens, we become motivated to act; thinking and learning are enhanced. When the interpretation is negative, the switch is turned off and thinking and learning are stifled. The system's interpretation of sensory information is based on the person's memories and immediate reaction to a current event. The more positive the learner's memories and reaction to the event (emotional state), the better the learning will be. Research has shown that happiness has a positive effect on learning, memory and social behavior. Conversely, negative emotional states, such as anger and sadness, have been shown to have a negative impact on learning and motivation.

Because the limbic system is the mediator between thought and feeling, it is easy to see why emotion is so crucial to making good decisions and thinking clearly. Emotions can disrupt thinking and learning. When we are happy we have a "clear mind" but when we are upset we can't "think straight". Positive emotions such as joy, contentment, acceptance, trust and satisfaction can enhance learning. Conversely, prolonged emotional distress can cripple our ability to learn. We all know how hard it is to learn or remember something when we are anxious, angry or depressed.

Emotions arise from memories and reactions to current events. Our emotions are formed by how we think about past and present experiences. We all try to explain our own behavior and that of others. The ways that we attempt to explain the causes of behavior are call "attributions". Dr. Martin Seligman refers to this as our "explanatory style". According to Dr. Seligman [81], it's not what happens to us but

ALICE – FP7-ICT-2009.4.2-257639 – D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2

ΑΙΟΕ



what we think about what happens to us that count. Our thoughts and beliefs are our reality. For example, when a father gets angry at his son, the child might think that he did something to anger his father, that his father is just a grouchy person or that his father had a hard day at work. The first explanation may cause the child to blame himself for his father's anger. The second attributes his father's anger to his father's personality. The third explanation sees the anger as his father's reaction to a situation. The boy will react quite differently to each of these attributions. Our explanatory style is part of our personality, develops in childhood and, without intervention, and is lifelong.

According to Dr. Seligman [82], there are three dimensions that we typically use to explain why a good or bad event happens: pervasiveness, permanence and personalization. Our attributions can be global or specific, permanent or temporary and internal or external. If a child attributes a failing grade on a math test to the fact that he is not smart, he is making a global, permanent and internal statement about his ability. As a result, he will come to believe that his lack of intelligence will affect his test scores on all tests in all subjects forever and there is nothing he can do to change it. If he attributes his poor test score to the fact that the test was really hard, he is explaining his score by specific, temporary and external factors, which can be changed and controlled. He could study harder or in a different way for the next test and receive a better grade.

An explanatory style that is global, permanent and external can, when negative events occur, lead to feelings of helplessness and hopelessness (pessimism). Pessimists see a glass half full of water as "half empty" while optimists see it "half full". The amount of water in the glass is the same; it is how we think about it that makes our experience of it positive or negative. Optimism or positive thinking lies in the way we think about the cause of things that happen. An explanatory style that is global, permanent and internal can, when good things happen, lead to feelings of self-confidence, self-esteem and contentment. Therefore, changing our attributions can change the way we feel. Because negative thoughts lead to negative emotions, we can feel better by thinking better, more positive thoughts. For example, if someone said something that hurt your feelings, you can't control the other person's words but you can control what you think about them and how you react to them. Our thoughts play an important role in how we learn to control our emotions and behavior.

Pekrun et al. [83] noticed that positive affect is positively related to mastery goals, and that negative affect (i.e., test anxiety) is positively related to performance-avoidance goals. However, there is some evidence that positive emotions do not necessarily have to foster learning whereas negative emotions lead to worse learning results [84]. Therefore, Hascher argued that the valence of an emotion is only one aspect of its quality. She described eight factors that should be taken into account to analyze the quality of an emotion:

- 1. Valence (pleasant unpleasant)
- 2. Arousal level (activating deactivating)
- 3. Intensity (intense low)
- 4. *Duration* (short long)
- 5. Frequency of occurrence (seldom frequent)
- 6. *Time dimension* (retrospective, actual, prospective)
- 7. Point of reference (self-related; related to others; referring to an activity)
- 8. Context (during learning, achievement etc.)

According to Pekrun et al. [82], two further important determinants of emotions (with respect to achievement) are the *perceived controllability* and the *subjective value* of the activities and outcomes. High controllability and subjective value lead to positive emotions whereas low controllability and low subjective value lead to negative emotions. Moreover, two important dimensions for emotions with respect to achievement are *object focus* and *valence*. In their 2×2 (or 3, respectively) taxonomy of achievement emotions, Pekrun et al. summarized their assumptions (see Table 4.1). Regarding object focus, activity-related emotions such as enjoyment or boredom can be distinguished from outcome-related emotions. These outcome-related emotions can be either prospective (e.g. hope) or





retrospective (e.g. shame). Regarding valence, positive emotions regarding achievement can be distinguished from negative emotions. According to the taxonomy of Pekrun et al, Table 4.1 shows emotions with respect to achievement found for middle school, high school as well as university students.

	Valence	
Object focus	Positive	Negative
Activity	Enjoyment	Boredom
Outcome		Anger
Prospective	Норе	Anxiety, Hopelessness
Retrospective	Pride	Shame

Table 2-1 Taxonomy of achievement emotions.

2.4 Emotions as Expressions

Darwin was the first to scientifically explore emotions [85]. He noticed that some facial and body expressions of humans were similar to those of other animals, and concluded that behavioral correlates of emotional experience were the result of evolutionary processes. In this respect, evolution was probably the first scientific framework to analyze emotions. An important aspect of Darwin's theory was that emotion expressions (e.g., a disgusted face) that he called "serviceable associated habits" did not evolve for the sake of expressing an emotion, but were initially associated with other more essential actions (e.g., a disgusted face initially associated with rejecting an offensive object from consumption eventually accompanies disgust even in the absence of such an object). Although the Darwinian theory of emotion fails to explain a number of emotional behaviors and expressions, there is some evidence that six or seven facial expressions of emotions are universally recognized: however, some researchers have challenged this view [86] [87]. The existence of universal expressions for some emotions has been interpreted as an indication that these six emotions are "basic" in the sense that they are innate and cross-cultural boundaries [88], [89], [90]. Other researchers have expanded Darwin's evolutionary framework toward other forms of emotional expression. Frijda in [91] studied "action tendencies" or states of readiness to act in a particular way when confronted with an emotional stimulus. These action tendencies were linked to our need to solve the problems that we find in our environment. For example, the action tendency "approach" permits the consumption of something "wanted" and it would be associated with the emotion normally called "desire." On the other hand, the purpose of "avoidance" is to protect and would often be linked to what is called "fear."

2.5 Emotions as Embodiments

James proposed a model that combined expression (as Darwin) and physiology, but interpreted the perception of physiological changes as the emotion itself rather than its expression. The "James-Lange theory" focused on emotion being "changes" in the Sympathetic Nervous System (SNS) a part of the Autonomic Nervous System (ANS). The James and Lange theories emphasize that emotional experience is embodied in peripheral physiology. Hence, AC systems can detect emotions by analyzing the pattern of physiological changes associated with each emotion (assuming a prototypical physiological response for each emotion exists). The amount of information that the physiological signals can provide is increasing, mainly due to major improvements in the accuracy of





psychophysiology equipment and associated data analysis techniques. Still, physiological signals are currently recorded using equipment and techniques that are more intrusive than those recording facial and vocal expression. Fortunately, some of the challenges associated with deploying intrusive physiological sensing devices in real-world contexts are being mitigated by recent advances in the design of wearable sensors (e.g., [92]).

2.6 Cognitive Approaches to Emotions

Arnold [93] is considered to be the pioneer of the cognitive approach to emotions, which is probably the leading view of emotion in cognitive psychology. Cognitivists believe that in order for a person to experience an emotion, an object or event must be appraised as directly affecting the person in some way, based on a person's experience, goals, and opportunity for action [94], [95], [96]; see the classic Schachter-Singer experiment [97]. Appraisal is a presumably unconscious process that produces emotions by evaluating an event along a number of dimensions such as novelty, urgency, ability to cope, consistency with goals, etc. The work of psychologists such as Bower, Mandler, Lazarus, Roseman, Ortony, Scherer, and Frijda has been most influential in the AC community. The cognitive-motivational-relational theory [98] states that in order to predict how a person will react to a situation, the person's expectations and goals in relation to the situation must be known. The theory describes how specific emotions arise out of personal conceptions of a situation. Roseman et al. [95], [98] have developed structural theories where a set of discrete emotions is modeled as direct outcomes of a multidimensional appraisal process. Roseman's 14 emotions are associated with a cognitive appraisal process that can be modeled with five dimensions [95], [98]:

- 1. Consistency motives. Also referred to as the "beneficial/ harmful" variable by Arnold (1960), this pertains to an appraisal of how well an affect inducing event helps or hinders one's intentions.
- 2. Probability. This dimension refers to the certainty that an event will actually occur. For example, a probable and negative event will be appraised differently than an improbable one.
- 3. Agency. This refers to the entity (i.e., self or other) that produces or is responsible for the event. For example, if a negative event is caused by oneself, it would be appraised differently than one caused by someone else.
- 4. Motivational state. An event can be "appetitive" (an event leading to a reward) or "aversive" (one leading to punishment).
- 5. Power. Refers to whether the subject is (or feels) in control of the situation or not.

The cognitive theory by Ortony, Clore, and Collins (OCC) views emotions as reactions to situational appraisals of events, actors, and objects [100]. The emotions can be positive or negative depending on the desirability of the situation. They identified four sources of evidence that can be used to test emotion theories: language, self-report, behavior, and physiology. The goal of much of their work was to create a computationally tractable model of emotion. It is important to note that Roseman's and Ortony's models are similar in many ways. They both converge upon the "universality" of the appraisal process. These models can be used to automatically predict a user's emotional state by taking a point in the multidimensional appraisal space (think of each contextual feature or appraisal variable as a dimension) and returning the most probable emotion.

2.7 Emotions as Social Constructs

Averill [75] put forward the idea that emotions cannot be explained strictly on the basis of physiological or cognitive terms. Instead, he claimed that emotions are primarily social constructs; hence, a social level of analysis is necessary to truly understand the nature of emotion. The relationship between





emotion and language [101] and the fact that the language of emotion is considered a vital part of the experience of emotion has been used by social constructivists and anthropologists to question the "universality" of Ekman's studies.

In addition, other cultures might have labels that cannot be literally translated to English (e.g., some languages do not have a word for fear [102]). Researchers like Darwin only occasionally mentioned the social function of emotional expressions, but contemporary researchers from social psychology have highlighted the importance of social processes in explaining emotional phenomena [103]. For example, Salovey [104] describes how social processes influence emotional experiences due to adaptation (adjustments in response to the environment), social coordination (reactions in response to expressions by others), and self-regulation (reactions based on our understanding of our own emotional state and relationship with the environment).

Stets and Turner [103] have recently reviewed the major research traditions pertaining to the sociology of emotions that have emerged in the literature; the theories are grouped into several basic approaches: dramaturgical and cultural, interaction ritual, symbolic interactionist, exchange, stuctural, and evolutionary (see [103] for more details).





3 Brain and Learning

In 1976, Paul MacLean proposed an evolutionary theory of brain development called the Triune Brain Theory. This theory suggests that the human brain is actually composed of three brains that appeared at different stages in our evolution: the reptilian brain, which includes the brain stem and cerebellum, is the oldest; the limbic system, or the old mammalian brain came next; and the (3) neocortex, or the neomammalian brain, emerged most recently (see Figure 6.1).



Adapted from Paul MacLean, "A Mind of Three Minds: Educating the Triune Brain," in Education and the Brain, edited by J. Chall and A. Mirsky (Chicago: University of Chicago Press).

Figure 3-1: MacLean's Triune Brain Model.

According to MacLean's theory, our cerebellum and brain stem developed approximately 500 million years ago. Since it resembles the brain of reptiles and other early species, it is referred to as the reptilian brain. The brain stem, attached to our spinal cord, consists of the medulla, Pons, and the cerebellum. It is responsible for body functions needed for survival, such as heart rate and breathing. Our brain stem also determines our level of alertness; it warns us of important incoming information, such as a child riding a bicycle on our side of the road.







Figure 3-2 The Limbic System.

The limbic system was the second part of our brain to develop, about 250 million years ago. Since it corresponds to the brain of most mammals, it is often referred to as the mammalian brain. It is located deep inside the brain between the brain stem and the cortex. The key components of the limbic brain are the amygdale, hippocampus, thalamus, and hypothalamus. This section of our brain is known mainly for our emotions; some researchers call the limbic brain our emotional brain. The limbic system is responsible for regulating our appetite; sexual urges, sleeping, hormones, and our immune system (see Figure. 6.2).

Our neocortex, which is the outer part of the cerebrum (and which makes up about 85 percent of the human brain), is the last part of the brain to develop, about 200 million years ago. Reptiles do not have a neocortex and mammals only have a small one. Our highly developed neocortex is the part of the brain that makes us 'human.' It allows us to understand time, a sense of the past, present, and future. It allows us to reflect, to plan, and to make goals. Neurologists believe that our neocortex is still evolving. Our cerebrum (neocortex) is divided into two hemispheres, our left and right. The hemispheres are connected by a band of nerve cell fibers called the corpus callosum. Both our left and our right hemisphere house four highly developed areas called brain lobes. These three parts of our brain are distinct, but they interact and interconnect. Each area of the brain. Hannaford [105] states, "...The neocortex is always growing neural networks linked to the brain stem and the limbic system, developing the neural connections that enable it to become the integrator of knowledge". This is important information for counselors to consider as they choose intervention strategies that are most effective in teaching adolescents to manage negative emotions more effectively. In essence, the choice of an intervention strategy, such as cognitive behavioral therapy, that emphasizes the link

ALICE - FP7-ICT-2009.4.2-257639 - D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2





between emotion, cognition and learning has, at a deeper level, the ability to encourage the development of neural connections between the brain stem, limbic system and neocortex so the adolescent can integrate knowledge more meaningfully, especially knowledge of how to cope more effectively with the emotional demands of adolescence.

Davidson, Scherer & Goldsmit [1] indicate that the Dorsolateral Pre-Frontal Cortex guides decision making through positive emotions (joy, hope, pride) and is critical for goal achievement decisions. On the other hand, negative emotions such as threat, fear or anger reveal particular activation in amygdala that resides in the Limbic System.

Ledoux's [61] systematic research underline the privileged position of amygdala; a point where everything converges. Sensory signals go from the hypothalamus to the amygdala in 15 milliseconds and from the hypothalamus to the cortex in 25 milliseconds. A stimulus is firstly, and above all, appraised if it is a threat. As a result, negative emotions such as fear or anger are triggered before the Pre-Frontal Cortex has even received the signal to be processed. Negative emotions take precedence in perception before positive ones.



Figure 3-3 - Ledoux's Neuroanatomical Model of Emotion.

If we wish to study emotions, we have to keep in mind that they constitute a rather primary, non-verbal way of communication. Each human's emotional repertoire has been significantly developed in his/her very early years, when their verbal system didn't even exist. From three months after conception until five-years-old all of a human's physical body states are stored in the amygdale together with the perceptual contexts which accompanied the states.

Pattern recognition by the amygdale of the perceptual context, triggers a physical body state that creates what we call an emotion or feeling [106]. Those first feelings that are sensed and perceived from the human newborn brain have been recorded as raw, silent, blueprints of human's emotional life and cannot be easily recalled, because they haven't been registered in a verbal cognitive system. They have been perceived by the first-developed sensory systems and have been placed in the basis of human's emotional repertoire, strongly connected with the primary, physical need of the newborn to survive [107]. They are strongly connected with the emotions of *fear* (of survival), as well and *affection* (of mother's first hug) that both can serve as the positive and negative root of every emotion taxonomy (Feidakis, Daradoumis, & Caballe, 2011) [1].







Figure 3-4 The fear circuit, centering on the amygdale [108].





4 The Circumplex Model of Affect

Emotion models allow to the simulation of behaviour and aid in both recognising and understanding human emotions as well as generating synthetic emotional responses. It makes sense to divide emotion models into two categories:

- ones that take into account the situations that initiate the emotions and how they are construed by the experiencer and focus on the predicted emotion : 'deep models'.
- ones that deal with the 'results' of an emotional episode i.e. facial expression/ voice etc. : 'shallow models'.

A number of computational models addressing emotion have been developed in cognitive science, Al and HCI. These models range from individual processes to integrated architectures, and explore several of the emotion theories we will see below. One thing that differentiates these modelling approaches is the level of abstraction. At the higher level of abstraction are architecture-level models which embody emotional processing.

At an intermediate level of abstraction are task-level models of emotion, which focus on addressing a single task, such as natural language understanding or specific problem solving. At lower levels of abstraction are mechanism-level models, which attempt to emulate some specific aspect of affective processing. The level of abstraction is found to be a key criterion in the selection of the appropriate models.

According to a review on emotional models by Hudlicka [108] the most frequently modelled process has been cognitive appraisal, whereby external and internal stimuli (emotion elicitors) are mapped onto a particular emotion. Several alternatives have been hypothesized for these processes in the psychological literature [109] [98] [110] [100]. A number of these models have been implemented, both as stand-alone versions, and integrated within larger agent architectures [111] [112] [113] [114]. The most frequently implemented theory is the OCC appraisal model [100], implemented in a number of systems and agents [115] [116] [117]. Other emotion model implementations include models of emotions based on facial expression [118] [119], models of emotion based on blends of basic emotions [120] models as goal management mechanisms [121], models of interaction of emotion and cognition [122], explicit models of the effects of emotion on cognitive processes and effects of emotions on agent's belief generation [123]. Examples of integrated architectures focusing on emotion include most notably the work of Sloman and colleagues [124], but also more recent efforts to integrate emotion effects in Soar (a general cognitive architecture for developing systems that exhibit intelligent behaviour) by Jones and colleagues [125].

In emotion research, there is a need for convergence from different research domains (Neuroscience, Artificial Intelligence, Cognitive Psychology, Sociology e.t.c.) in order to build a sustainable, theoretical background [126]. In figure 8.1, a map of the thematic areas involved in emotion-oriented computing is proposed by the HUMAINE project [127].





Figure 4-1 Emotion-oriented computing-map of the thematic areas [127].

For an outsider to the field, the last fifteen years have seen the development of a seemingly bewildering array of competing and complementary computational models. Figure 8.2 lists a "family tree" of a few of the significant models and the theoretical traditions from which they stem. Although there has been a proliferation of work, the field is far from mature: the goals that a model is designed to achieve are not always clearly articulated; research is rarely incremental, more often returning to motivating theories than extending prior computational approaches; and rarely are models contrasted with each other in terms of their ability to achieve their set goals. Contributing to potential confusion is the reality that computational models are complex systems embodying a number of, sometimes unarticulated, design decisions and assumptions inherited from the psychological and computational traditions from which they emerged, a circumstance made worse by the lack of a commonly accepted lexicon for even designating these distinctions.



Figure 4-2 - A history of Computational Models of Emotion [128].

The main theoretical lines in the study of emotions can be summarized in the following three theories:

ALICE – FP7-ICT-2009.4.2-257639 – D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2





- differential or discrete theories: Ekman [129], along with Tomkins [88], Izard [130], Plutch [131] are the main representatives of this theoretical orientation that supports the existence of certain emotions, defined as primary, which have unique characteristics and specific level of expression, physiological situations stimuli [132]. These emotions have evolved in response to the environment and would, therefore, an adaptive character. Research proponents of this orientation are directed mainly to the study of facial expressed emotions.
- 2. componential theory: emotions are conceived as the sum of two components, the physiological arousal and cognitive processes. Schachter and Singer [97], [48], Ortony and Turner [86] are researchers that have developed in which these theories that focus on how information processing lead to the process of evaluation of the stimuli environment and the consequent physiological arousal, which is defined as the emotion and how this process can be modified by experience and learning. Studies of evaluation systems related to various emotional systems (such as emotions vary in relation to the change of assessment).
- 3. dimensional theories of emotions: It assumes the existence of general rules that direct response of the individual responses along some axes: pleasantness, activation and attention, evaluation (pleasure / displeasure), activity and power for Osgood, Suci and Tannenbaum [133]. Russell [134], for example, has proposed that each term reflects a degree of pleasure and activation, which is experienced by the individual. His model, therefore, theorized the existence of two dimensions (pleasure / displeasure and degree of activation) and any expression represents a point along these two axes.

Below, we classify basic emotion theories and models according to groups (layers) of emotions that have been studied from the responding research groups:

- i. One layer Basic emotions: Pekrun (1992) examined the impact of the so-called academic emotions (four positive: joy, hope, pride, relief and five negative: boredom, anger, anxiety, shame, hopelessness). Ekman and Friesen (1978) classified facial expressions that are linked to the six *basic* emotions: (anger, disgust, fear, joy, sadness, and surprise).
- ii. Two layers Basic/Primary and Secondary emotions: Damasio (1996) has distinguished between primary (anger, fear, happiness, and sadness) and secondary emotions. Ortony, Clore & Collins (1988) in their OCC model have proposed 5 basic (anger, fear, happiness, joy, love) and 14 secondary emotions. Plutchik (2001) created a wheel of emotions which consisted of 8 basic emotions arranged as four pairs of opposites (joy-sadness, trust-distrust, fear-anger, surprise-anticipation), and 8 advanced emotions each composed of 2 basic ones.
- iii. *Three layers Basic, Secondary and Tertiary emotions:* Parrot (2001) used a tree structured list with three layers, namely *primary* (love, joy, surprise, anger, sadness, and fear), *secondary* or feelings and *tertiary*. Baron-Cohen, et al., (2004) have grouped 412 emotions into 24 mutually exclusive emotion groups
- iv. Four and more layers: Kort & Reily (2002) have suggested 6x6 possible emotion axes (anxiety-confidence, ennui-fascination, frustration-euphoria, dispirited-enthusiasm, terror-excitement, humiliated-proud) that may arise in the course of learning raging from negative (rank -1.0) to positive (rank +1.0) valence.

Finally, emotions can be situation specific or apply to a broader context (Hascher, 2010). This differentiation is described by the terms *state*- versus *trait* emotion. For example, anxiety as a state depends on the threatening features of the situation, whereas anxiousness is a trait, a disposition of a person who is likely to react anxiously in different, not necessarily menacing situations. Schutz et al





(2009, as cited in Hascher, 2010) suggested the differentiation into three forms of emotional experiences:

- Core affect (moods like feeling blue),
- Emotional episodes (state emotions like sadness), and
- Affective tendencies (trait emotions like being depressed).

The four most common emotions appearing on the many theorists' lists are fear, anger, sadness, and joy. The classification of emotions defined as primary, i.e. not decomposed into other emotions, varies according to the theory of reference that we take. As ever, theorists disagree. Ortony and Turner [86] collated a wide range of research on identification of basic emotions.

Theorist	Basic Emotions				
Plutchik	Acceptance, anger, anticipation, disgust, joy, fear, sadness, surprise				
Arnold	Anger, aversion, courage, dejection, desire, despair, fear, hate, hope, love, sadness				
Ekman, Friesen, and Ellsworth	Anger, disgust, fear, joy, sadness, surprise				
Frijda	Desire, happiness, interest, surprise, wonder, sorrow				
Gray	Rage and terror, anxiety, joy				
Izard	Anger, contempt, disgust, distress, fear, guilt, interest, joy, shame, surprise				
James	Fear, grief, love, rage				
McDougall	Anger, disgust, elation, fear, subjection, tender-emotion, wonder				
Mowrer	Pain, pleasure				
Oatley and Johnson-Laird	Anger, disgust, anxiety, happiness, sadness				
Panksepp	Expectancy, fear, rage, panic				
Tomkins	Anger, interest, contempt, disgust, distress, fear, joy, shame, surprise				
Watson	Fear, love, rage				
Weiner and Graham	Happiness, sadness				

Table 4-1 - Range of research on identification of basic emotions. [135]

Especially, we pass from the second theory of Mowrer (pain and pleasure) to about 10 other researchers such as Izard. We observe the following theories and models, however, some fairly common, such as those of Ekman and Plutchik.





4.1 Ekman

Ekman's theory is based on an experiment analysis and cross-cultural comparison [136]. It has been observed as an emotional expression within a specific population was interpreted correctly and consistently within any other, and vice versa. In other words, the facial expression was interpreted as related to happiness in all populations analyzed. If there are innate expressions then cut across in the whole of humanity, it means that there are common emotions they generate, and so these can be defined as primary. Ekman [137] has focused on a set of from six to eight basic emotions That Have Associated facial expressions:

- 1. Happiness
- 2. Surprise
- 3. Disgust
- 4. Anger
- 5. Fear
- 6. Sadness

In the late '60s, Paul Ekman visited in a remote population of New Guinea: "the Fore", some people told some stories related to particular emotions, he showed photos of the American people and asked subjects to indicate the image associated with the story. Then he returned to America and did the same with some people, however, which showed images of American faces of the Fore. The same stories were associated with faces expressing the same emotion. Conclusion: the emotions, the fundamental, are independent of culture, are innate or so to descend from our ancient common ancestors. Moreover, as has been observed, even infants or children who are blind from birth, show typical expressions related to these emotions.

4.2 Plutchik

Plutchik [131] distinguished among eight basic emotions: fear, anger, sorrow, joy, disgust, acceptance, anticipation, and surprise. He distinguished emotions in primary and complex. Its starting point is evolutionary in nature. In fact the theory underpinning his research is that emotions are evolutionary responses to enable the species to survive. It argues that each of the primary emotions act as a switch for a behavior with a high survival value (eg fear: fight-or-flight response). According to Plutchik, there are 8 primary emotions, which are defined in pairs:



Figure 4-3 - Plutchik's Color Wheel of Emotions [138].

ALICE – FP7-ICT-2009.4.2-257639 – D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2





- 1. Joy Sorrow (or pain)
- 2. Approval (or Trust) Disgusting
- 3. Anger Fear
- 4. Surprise Leave (or anticipated)

Each of these emotions can vary in intensity thus creating different shades of which are distributed according to a continuum of vertical as in the following:



Figure 4-4

The wheel of emotions he created shows the opposite of emotion and intensity, gradually decreasing towards the outside, plus the various intermediate states (decreasing intensity of the emotions are mixed more easily).

The result is what has been called "the flower of Plutchik":



Figure 4-5 - Flower of Plutchik.





Where the second circle contains the primary emotions (clockwise from top: joy, confidence, fear, surprise, sadness, disgust, anger, anticipation).

In the center circle we have the events of greater intensity of each of the primary emotions (respectively, ecstasy, awe, terror, amazement, anguish. disgust, anger, supervision). In the outer circle but there are corresponding events of lesser intensity (respectively: serenity, acceptance, anxiety, distraction, thoughtfulness, boredom, irritation, interest).

The emotions then combine with each other. Thus, between joy and confidence we will have love, between trust and fear submission, between fear and surprise awe, between surprise and sadness disapproval, between sadness and disgust remorse, between anger and disgust contempt, between anger and anticipation aggressiveness, and between anticipation and joy optimism. These are all secondary or complex emotions, given by the combination of simple (innate) emotions between them, but also by other factors, such as the combination with intelligence, memory, experience, etc.

If we look at how emotions are distributed in the diamond-shaped three-dimensional model, of which the flower is only a geometrical development,



Figure 4-6 - three-dimensional model.

we see, as mentioned above, the vertical dimension represents the intensity of emotions, the circumference defines the degree of similarity between the emotions and the fact that emotions are distributed in pairs opposite the circle is its polarity. This three-dimensional model also suggests visually the idea that some emotions are primary and other derived or mixed. The emotion is, in Plutchik, a complex chain of events that begins with the perception of a stimulus, it ends with an interaction between the organism and the stimulus that triggered the chain of events. The major components of the chain is a cognitive evaluation of stimulus, subjective experience or "feeling ", physiological arousal, an impulse to action and behavior. The whole sequence through a feedback mechanism tends to restore the individual to a state of quiet. Therefore, each emotion is associated with an external stimulus (but may also be internal, the perception of something in your body, thoughts, etc..) and a response of the individual.

Emotion Stimulus Perception Behavior Function obtaining resources obtain an object possession joy Hold and repeat member of a group friend confidence collaborates mutual support threat danger fear flee Security unexpected event What surprise take time stop

In this table we see brief examples of these reports:





loss of an object	abandonment	sadness	cry	regain lost resources
object unacceptable	venom	disgust	vomiting	eliminate venom
obstacle	enemy	anger	attacks	destroy barrier
new territory	examines	anticipation	Мар	Knowledge of the territory

Table 4-2 - Relations between emotion and external stimuli [139].

There are many theories on emotions, but that of Plutchik has been very successful because it is simple, functional and take into account evolution. In fact provides a general model applicable to humans.

In summary, the emotions have three main functions, according to Plutchik:

- A function of motivation toward specific behaviors. That predispose an individual to a set of possible behaviors, which was originally the most important for the preservation of the individual and the species, but also at the present time to conduct much more evolved. No coincidence that motivate people, anger and delight of those involved in human resource management, means being able to associate the behaviors you expect people to adopt, for their part in the trial of positive emotions, preferably intense.
- 2. A communicative function to other individuals. Plutchik, citing research that Darwin received numerous confirmations, also emphasizes the communicative role of emotions. They allow you to communicate information among individuals according to a model primitive, of course pre-verbal. For example hug to express affection or complain to ask for help..
- 3. A function of information for the individual himself. In fact, mean that the individual is up to date on his needs and goals, so spontaneous and pre-rational, that learns useful and dangerous situations and events, acting as a measure of its internal state and the outside world.

4.3 Kort

Kort et al. [140] propose a model that describes the range of various emotional states during learning (see Figure 8.7). Whether all of these are important, and whether the axes shown in Figure 8.7 are the "right" ones remains to be evaluated, and it will no doubt take many investigations before a "basic emotion set for learning" can be established. Such a set may be culturally different and will likely vary with developmental age as well. The model is inspired by theory often used to describe complex interactions in engineering systems, and as such is not intended to explain how learning works, but rather is intended to give us a framework for thinking about and posing questions about the role of emotions in learning. Like with any metaphor, the model has limits to its application.

Axis	-1.0	-0. 5		0	+0.5	+1.0
American Claudidanas	Amistr	Wanne	Disconfort	Clamfort	Hanaful	Confident
Anxiety-Confidence	Anxiety	wony	Disconnort	Connort	норени	Confident
Boredom-Fascination	Ennui	Boredom	Indifference	Interest	Curiosity	Intrigue
Frustration-Euphoria	Frustration	Puzzlement	Confusion	Insight	Enlightenment	Ephipany
Dispirited-Encouraged	Dispirited	Disappointed	Dissatisfied	Satisfied	Thrilled	Enthusiastic
Terror-Enchantment	Terror	Dread	Apprehension	Calm	Anticipatory	Excited

ALICE – FP7-ICT-2009.4.2-257639 – D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2





In [140] the authors has proposed a four quadrant learning spiral model in which emotions change while the learner moves through quadrants and up the spiral (Figure 8.8). Figures 8.8 attempts to interweave the emotion axes shown in Figure 2.6 with the cognitive dynamics of the learning process. The horizontal axis is an Emotion Axis. It could be one of the specific axes from Figure 8.7, or it could symbolize the *n*-vector of all relevant emotion axes (thus allowing multidimensional combinations of emotions). The positive valence (more pleasurable) emotions are on the right; the negative valence (more unpleasant) emotions are on the left. The vertical axis is what we call the Learning Axis, and symbolizes the construction of knowledge upward, and the discarding of misconceptions downward. In quadrant I the learner is experiencing positive affect and constructing knowledge. At this point, the learner is working through the material with ease and has not experienced anything overly puzzling. Once discrepancies start to arise between the information and the learner's knowledge structure, they move to quadrant II, which consists of constructive learning and negative affect. Here they experience affective states such as confusion. As the learner try to sort out the puzzle but fails, he might move into quadrant III. This is the quadrant of unlearning and negative affect, when the learner is experiencing states such as frustration. After the misconceptions are discarded, the learner moves into quadrant IV, marked by unlearning and positive affect. While in this quadrant the learner is still not sure exactly how to go forward. However, they do acquire new insights and search for new ideas. Once they develop new ideas, they are propelled back into quadrant I; thus, concluding one cycle around the learning spiral of Kort et al. As learners move up the spiral, they become more competent and acquire more domain knowledge.



Figure 4-8 - learning spiral of Kort.

4.4 Russel

A more established model for the representation of the user's emotions is the so-called twodimensional model of affective circumflex Russell [134] where emotions are located in a coordinate system in which the y-axis indicates the degree of excitement as the axis the horizontal axis indicates the educational value of the emotion (see Figure 8.9). This model is widely used in many modern research, including: [20], [140], [141] e [142]. Each emotion can be understood as a linear combination of these two dimensions as varying degrees of both pleasure and activation (see Figure 8.9). Specific emotions arise out of patterns of activation within these two neurophysiological systems pleasure and activation, together with interpretations and labeling of these emotional experiences.

ΑΙΟΕ





Figure 4-9 - A two-dimensional view of subjective well-being (Russell, 1980, 2003).

For instance, the degree of activation while experiencing positive (pleasurable) emotions varies considerably [143][144]. Feeling calm and content implies a lower level of activation compared to feeling happy, engaged, excited or enthusiastic. Similarly, unpleasant emotions may range from "feeling bored or depressed" to "feeling upset, anxious or tense". The circumplex model emphasizes that emotions are not discrete and isolated entities but instead are interrelated based on the two neurophysiological systems of pleasure and activation. Corroborating this, researchers have long noted the difficulty that people have in assessing, discerning, and describing their own emotions [145]. This difficulty suggests that individuals recognize emotions as ambiguous and overlapping experiences. Similar to the spectrum of color, emotions seem to lack the discrete borders that would clearly differentiate one emotion from another [146]. Indeed, researchers exploring the subjective experience of emotion have noted that emotions are highly intercorrelated both within and between the persons reporting them [147]. Using statistical techniques such as multidimensional scaling and factor analysis of subjective reports of emotional words, faces, and experiences, research has repeatedly yielded two-dimensional models of affective experience [148] [149] [134] [150].

The Russell's model is widely used in recent researches. And most of these just explored from three to eight basic emotions. We have previously seen that Kort et al. [140] proposed five sets of about thirty emotions that may be relevant to learning, however skilled human tutors and teachers react to assist students based on a few 'least common set' of affect as opposed to a large number of complex factors; thus, we carefully select a basic learning emotion set which we deem most important for shaping our affective learning model. The basic set includes the most important and frequently occurred emotions during learning, namely, interest, engagement, confusion, frustration, boredom, hopefulness, satisfaction and disappointment. They might not be placed exactly the same for all people when put in the Russell's two-dimension emotion space, because this model focuses on subjective experiences. Figure 2.8 is an example of two-dimensional basic learning emotion space.







Figure 4-10 - an example of the basic learning emotion space.

Russell and Kort's models share a common axis: the emotional state. If, during learning, emotion is found to change in a consistent manner then this would provide a means to study how learning behaviors relate to emotion (and vice-versa). At a simple level this might be employed to provide teachers with feedback on a learner's emotional state (especially useful for remote learning where there are no visual cues). Moreover if, during learning, the transition between emotional states on Kort's model displays some kinds of loops, then this would indicate a tighter coupling between Russel and Kort's models, opening the possibility for the theory associated with these well established models (e.g. the affective learning spiral) to be applied to emotion aware e-Learning systems.

4.5 OCC model

The OCC model [100] describes a hierarchy that classifies 22 emotion types (see figure 8.10). The hierarchy contains three branches, namely emotions concerning consequences of events (e.g., joy and pity), actions of agents (e.g., pride and reproach), and aspects of objects (e.g., love and hate). Additionally, some branches combine to form a group of compound emotions, namely emotions concerning consequences of events caused by actions of agents (e.g., gratitude and anger). Because these notions (i.e. events, actions, and objects) are also commonly used in agent models, this makes the OCC model suitable for use in artificial agents. Throughout the book, specifications are given for each of the 22 emotion types. For example, below is the specification of the class of emotions labeled as 'fear' in the OCC model [100] (Figure 8.11).

This model has been used extensively (eg in [151] and [152]) to identify and map the users' emotions during the interaction with educational games.

The OCC model has established itself as the standard appraisal model. This model specifies 22 emotion categories based on valenced reactions to situations constructed either as being goals of relevant events, as actions of an accountable agent, or as attitudes of attractive or unattractive objects. Conati and Zhou are using the OCC theory explicitly for recognizing user emotions in their educational game Prime Climb [151]. Katsionis and Virvou have adapted OCC theory to model students' emotions while they learn in an educational game [153]. Beyond education applications, there is also relevant work underway such as that by Hanjalic and Xu who represent and model video content (in their case, movies) with emotion tags to support personalization that can be used for applications such as the automatic generation of 'video highlights' or personalized recommendations for video films [154].

ALICE – FP7-ICT-2009.4.2-257639 – D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2







Figure 4-11 The original structure of emotions of the OCC model [100].

4.6 The Geneva Emotion Wheel (GEW)

It was developed by Klaus Scherer (2005), in the Geneva Emotion Research Group. It has 20 different emotion families (10 positive emotions and 10 negative) arranged in a circular fashion on a response sheet. The two words or labels that represent each family can stand for a whole range of similar emotions. The respondent is first asked to choose the emotion family that seems to best correspond to the kind of feeling that he/she experienced when an event took place. Then they determine with which intensity they experienced the respective emotion by checking one of the circles in the "spike" corresponding to this emotion family -- the bigger the circle and the closer it is to the rim of the wheel, the stronger would have been their emotional experience.







Figure 4-12 The Geneva Emotion Wheel (copied February 8, 2012, from Scherer, 2005)





5 Computational Models of Emotion

In the last two decades, there have been various updated endeavours in modelling the management of emotions and affectivity in Intelligent Systems. Research has focused on automated detection of affective states in a variety of learning contexts and it has shown promising results by successfully detecting some affective states (e.g., frustration or boredom). By exploiting Computer Intelligence techniques, researchers are aiming at eliciting accurate automatic classifications of affective states. Pattern Recognition strategies are implemented to detect combinations of affective sequences that produce satisfactory results. In figure 8.2, Jonathan Gratch has provided a valuable history of Computational Models of Emotion.

The computational models of emotions have been built, including the underlying theoretical traditions that have shaped their development. These differing theoretical perspectives often conceptualize emotion in quite different ways, emphasizing different scenarios and proposed functions, different component processes and different linkages between these components. It should then come as no surprise that such differences are also reflected in the underlying design of the computational models.

Emotional displays convey considerable information about the mental state of an individual. Although there is a lively debate whether these displays reflect true emotion or are simply communicative conventions [155], pragmatically there is truth in both perspectives. From emotional displays, observers can form interpretations of a person's beliefs (e.g., frowning at an assertion may indicate disagreement), desires (e.g., joy gives information that a person values an outcome) and intentions/action tendencies (e.g. fear suggests flight). They may also provide information about the underlying dimensions along which people appraise the emotional significance of events: valence, intensity, certainty, expectedness, blameworthiness, etc. [156]. Because of their importance, emotions can be an instrument of social control, for example through the media it is possible to influence certain feelings and opinion, and then change social attitudes.

A related trend in HCI work is the use of emotions and emotional displays in virtual characters that interact with the user. As animated films [157] so poignantly demonstrate, emotional displays in an artificially generated character can have the general effect of making it seem human or lifelike, and thereby cue the user to respond to, and interact with, the character as if it were another person. A growing body of research substantiates this view. In the presence of a lifelike agent, people are more polite, tend to make socially desirable choices and are more nervous [158]; they can exhibit greater trust of the agent's recommendations [159]; and they can feel more empathy [160]. In that people utilize these behaviors in their everyday interpersonal interactions, modeling the function of these behaviors is essential for any application that hopes to faithfully mimic face-to-face human interaction. More importantly, however, the ability of emotional behaviors to influence a person's emotional and motivational state could potentially, if exploited effectively, guide a user towards more effective interactions. For example, education researchers have argued that nonverbal displays can have a significant impact on student intrinsic motivation [161]. A number of applications have attempted to exploit this interpersonal function of emotional expression. Klesen models the communicative function of emotion, using stylized animations of body language and facial expression to convey a character's emotions and intentions with the goal of helping students understand and reflect on the role these constructs play in improvisational theater [162]. Nakanishi [163] and Cowell and Stanney [159] each evaluated how certain non-verbal behaviors could communicate a character's trustworthiness for training and marketing applications, respectively. Several applications have also tried to manipulate a student's motivations through emotional behaviors of a virtual character: Lester utilized praising and sympathetic emotional displays to provide feedback and increase student motivation in a tutoring application [164].





Each of the computational models listed in figure 8.2 is a very different entity, with incompatible inputs and outputs, different behaviors, embodying irreconcilable processing assumptions and directed towards quite different scientific objectives. These models are complex systems that integrate a number of component "sub-models." Sometimes these components are not clearly delineated, but if one disassembles models along the proper joints, then a great many apparent differences collapse into a small number of design choices.

A challenge in developing a coherent framework for describing computational models of emotion is that the term "emotion" itself is fraught with ambiguities and contrasting definitions. Emotions are a central aspect of everyday life and people have strong intuitions about them. As a consequence, the terms used in emotion research (appraisal, emotion, mood, affect, feeling) have commonsense interpretations that can differ considerably from their technical definition within the context of a particular emotion theory or computational model [102]. This ambiguity is confounded by the fact that there are fundamental disputes within psychological and neuroscience research on emotion over the meaning and centrality of these core concepts. Theories differ in which components are intrinsic to an emotion (e.g., cognitions, somatic processes, behavioral tendencies and responses), the relationships between components (e.g. do cognitions precede or follow somatic processes), and representational distinctions (e.g. is anger a linguistic fiction or a natural kind).

Understanding these alternative theoretical perspectives on emotion is essential for anyone that aspires to develop computational models, but this does not imply that a modeler must be strictly bound by any specific theoretical tradition. Certainly, modelers should strive for a consistent and well-founded semantics for their underlying emotional constructs and picking and integrating fundamentally irreconcilable theoretical perspectives into a single system can be problematic at best. If the goal of the computational model is to faithfully model human emotional processes, or more ambitiously, to contribute to theoretical discourse on emotion, such inconsistencies can be fatal. However, some "fundamentally irreconcilable" differences are illusory and evaporate when seen from a new perspective.

5.1 Appraisal theory

The large majority of computational models of emotion stem from ability to detect and explain the mixture of emotion and cognition. The emotion takes over the role of mediator between the body's needs and demands of the environment. Emotion is the result of an evaluation process that involves changes rather broad and interrelated in various subsystems of the organism and that occurs in response to a triggering event that has a fundamental significance for the individual. The term evaluation (appraisal) identifies all uses of evaluative language, which can be used by the speaker or writer to take particular positions that are explicitly or implicitly negotiate with potential listeners / readers.

"Appraisal is concerned with evaluation: the kinds of attitudes that are negotiated in a text, the strength of feelings involved and the ways in which values are sourced and readers aligned. [165]"

In terms of underlying components of emotion, appraisal theory foregrounds appraisal as a central process. Appraisal theorists typically view appraisal as the cause of emotion, or at least of the physiological, behavioral and cognitive changes associated with emotion. Some appraisal theorists emphasize "emotion" as a discrete component within their theories, whereas others treat the term emotion more broadly to refer to some configuration of appraisals, bodily responses and subjective experience. Much of the work has focused on the structural relationship between appraisal variables and specific emotion labels – i.e., which pattern of appraisal variables would elicit hope [100] – or the structural relationship between appraisal variables and specific behavioral and cognitive responses – i.e., which pattern of appraisal theories of emotion, not surprisingly, emphasize appraisal as the central process to be modeled. Computational appraisal models often encode

ALICE - FP7-ICT-2009.4.2-257639 - D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2





elaborate mechanisms for deriving appraisal variables such as decision-theoretic plans [123] [167], Markov-decision processes [168], or detailed cognitive models [169]. Emotion itself is often less elaborately modeled. Appraisal is typically modeled as the cause of emotion with specific emotion label being derived via *if-then rules* on a set of appraisal variables. Some approaches make a distinction between a specific emotion instance (allowing multiple instances to be derived from the same event) and a more generalized "affective state" or "mood" that summarizes the effect of recent emotion elicitations [170]. Some more recent models attempt to model the impact of momentary emotion and mood on the appraisal process [171] [167]. Computational appraisal models have been applied to a variety of uses including contributions to psychology, AI and HCI.

5.1.1 Attitude and Evaluation

The authors [165] identify, within the appraisal system, three main types of attitude:

- *Affect:* this is the kind of attitude found for the expression of emotions (feelings) and that involves the emotional sphere of those who produce the text. These aspects can be either positive or negative and directly expressed (inscribed) or implicitly (evoked). they communicate the attitude, the provisions of the writer / talk towards things, people, events, etc.
- *Judgement:* judgement involves the ethical sphere of the issuer, which may give positive or negative evaluation on the object of your text. You can make a further distinction between personal opinions and judgments of moral.
- *Appreciation:* this last type is on the extent and appearance can be attributed to products of the human being, or artifacts (including text and speech), objects and individuals with regard to their nature in terms of aesthetic and other value systems social.

In general, the expression of attitudes can either go through the explicit use of certain words, or, more often, through some complex sentences and the interaction between various elements of the speech. According to White attitudes should be seen as a property of propositions, not individual terms. For example, the affect can be, as mentioned, implied or otherwise. in the case of an attitude-level content implicit in the text, this often is not apparent from isolated words, but through the interaction between elements explicit and other parts of speech. The figure below shows the various elements that come into play in the assessment system.

ΑΙΓΟΕ





Figure 5-1- Appraisal System [165].

as you can see, are identified three macro-systems within the global system: that of attitudes (Attitudes), the amplifier (Amplification), and that includes the strength and focus of communication: the Force is on the choices of greater or lesser intensity of classifiable elements (Graduable), while the Focus involves choices between Highlighting the experiential or mitigation of the sphere (Experiential Boundary). Source, finally, is related to the elements that introduce / involve additional voices within the discourse, through the mechanism of projection, and the mode of granting. The main difference lies in the choice of one voice in the discourse (Monogloss) or more people talking (heterogloss, or box).

5.1.1.1 Attitude: Affect – The expression of sensations

Affect, as mentioned earlier, concerns the expression of emotions, whether positive or negative. This kind of attitude can be communicated through:

- mental processes, and then verbs of emotion (such as love / hate;
- interesting / boring, frightening / reassuring);
- adverbs of manner: happiness / unhappiness;
- terms relating to the sensations: happy / sad, angry / calm, etc..;
- through nominalization, or turning verbs into nouns: joy / despair / insecurity, etc..

White [172] draws a distinction between Affect authorial and non-authorial. The first is expressed by the issuer in the first person subjective and implies its presence in the communication process. In this way he seeks to establish an interpersonal relationship with the reader, in the sense that the author aims to raise the agreement, understanding or sympathy with the same emotional reaction. In some cases the attitudes of this kind can also be routed to multiple recipients: the issuer authorial can somehow "manage" or try to influence the public's reaction, through the use of emotions that can be considered as appropriate and fair. This could be the case for non-profit institutions and organizations that appeal to a "common sense" to communicate certain values. Regarding Affect not authorial, it implies that the issuer to use the second or third person in the text. In this way, the emotions expressed by others are a sort of "surrogate", the spokesman of the author. Users are conditioned by the context in which they find themselves in judging the emotions: some of them are considered positive, while others are judged negatively. This is a fact culturally determined and occurs whenever

ALICE - FP7-ICT-2009.4.2-257639 - D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2





the issuer assumes a position (in an implicit or even unconscious) against certain emotions, because at that moment he attributes to himself or the entity through which it communicates the role social actors. In this sense, the text, being an expression of feelings, has the potential to place the reader in terms of attitudes that they are going to assume: it may cause the recipient sympathy or disagreement with the social actor.

5.1.1.2 Attitude: Judgement – The assessment of behaviors

The term Judgement was adopted by the authors [173] to indicate where the conduct evaluations of human beings are judged in a positive or negative, in reference to a set of social norms. Every culture encoding, either explicitly or implicitly, the rules of behavior that determine the approval or condemnation of the attitudes. Violation of these rules can sometimes determine the legal consequences, but even if this does not happen, they imply the expression of a moral, religious or other. The values defined by cultural norms do not all have the same weight and determines the ascent or descent of an individual / group in the "list of esteem" adopted by this company. There are three macro-categories of ratings in this area: those that refer to "normal" (eg, eccentric, unconventional, conventional, traditional, etc..), those relating to individual psychological dispositions (brave, cowardly, determined, stubborn, zealous, etc..) and those related to skills (clever, stupid, brilliant, incompetent, etc.).

Analysis of Findings may be complicated by the presence, as well as reviews of explicit, implicit judgments, which are called by White "tokens. " As regards the former, they may be conveyed by words that already contain a value in themselves, an attitude. The Guest evoked by the text, however, can sometimes be inferred by what are apparently made by the Issuer as mere "facts", but which are influenced the socio-cultural context in which they are produced, inevitably recalling certain responses from the reader. In this context, the Taken For Granted plays a fundamental role in the communication process: certain representations "factual" can be assimilated by a society as to be classifiable as Guest explicit (rather than implicit) in contexts in ome.

However, it is useful to distinguish between Findings implicit / explicit, since the producer of the text is always a choice between a neutral statement, or factual, and a statement in which he clearly expresses his opinion. In the first case then it is called the Judgement evoked, while in the second provoked of Judgement.



Figure 5-2 - Model of Appraisal [173].

It may happen frequently that the illness is potentially able to cause the court because the feelings and emotions are often attributed to social assessments that lead to classificarle as "good" or "bad". A

ALICE – FP7-ICT-2009.4.2-257639 – D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2

Α·L·Ι·C·Ε



sentence like "He adores children" easily leads to a 19 rating because the positive socio-cultural context in which it is produced associated with a statement of moral evaluations of this kind.

5.1.1.3 Attitude: Appreciation – The aesthetic plane of Attitudes

The last category is the attitude of appreciation (Appreciation), which refers to positive or negative evaluation that can be attributed to objects, artifacts [174] and other factors outside of human behavior. The most common type of appreciation concerns the area of aesthetics, or evaluations of the expression of form, appearance, construction, presentation and impact of objects and other entities. It also gives meaning and social value to objects and artifacts. Otherwise by the affect, Judgement and appreciation have one thing in common: while the illness tends to make the considerations related to a subject (in particular issuer), who lives a certain emotional state, Judgement and appreciation are oriented towards object of discourse ('the ' appraised'), i.e. to place the phenomenon under investigation. This assessment is made in a sense "objective, " fewer people than the concept of Affect. The Judgement and Appreciation distinguish between them but for the presence or absence of references to human behavior, such expressions as "a beautiful sunset "and "a bad car, " are clearly related to the aesthetic plane of the elements evaluated.

The Aesthetic appreciation can be Expressed But Also on people, without thereby forming Judgments, since it does not Involve A Choice Between right and wrong, correct / incorrect. There are three types of Aesthetic Appreciation: The First Relates to the composition, structure or form in Which the parties are made up of the Entity Being Evaluated (e.g., balanced, unbalanced, confused, discordant). The second Relates to the submission, Which Involves appreciation to object of discourse, Which can be pleasant or not in Accordance with (beautiful, ugly). The last category has to do with uninterrupted That values can drift from or depend upon elements from the range of emotions Such as "building is a very anonymous".

This last type can be quite difficult to spot, since those terms can in turn be attributed to emotional or aesthetic. The key to classify them as the Appreciation lies in the allocation of the quality of the text object as its inherent property.

5.2 Dimensional Theories

Dimensional theories of emotion argue that emotion and other affective phenomena should be conceptualized, not as discrete entities but as points in a continuous (typically two or three) dimensional space Russell [102], Mehrabian and Russell [175], Barrett [174]. Indeed, many dimensional theories argue that discrete emotion categories (e.g., hope, fear and anger) are folk-psychological concepts that have unduly influenced scientific discourse on emotion and have no "reality" in that there are no specific brain regions or circuits that correspond to specific emotion categories [174]. Not surprisingly, dimensional theories de-emphasize the term emotion or relegate it to a cognitive label attributed, retrospectively, to some perceived body state. Rather they emphasize concepts such as mood, affect or more recently *core affect* [102].

A person is said to be in exactly one affective state at any moment [102] and the space of possible core affective states is characterized in terms of broad, continuous dimensions. Many computational dimensional models build on the three-dimensional "PAD" model in [175] where these dimensions correspond to *pleasure* (a measure of valence), *arousal* (indicating the level of affective activation) and *dominance* (a measure of power or control). It is worth noting that there is a relationship between the dimensions of core affect and appraisal dimensions – the pleasure dimension roughly maps onto appraisal dimensions that characterize the valence of an appraisal-eliciting event (e.g., intrinsic pleasantness or goal congruence), dominance roughly map onto the appraisal dimension of coping





potential, and arousal a measure of intensity. However, they have quite different meaning: appraisal is a relational construct characterizing the relationship between some specific object/event and the individual's beliefs desires and intentions and several appraisals may be simultaneously active; core affect is a non-relational construct summarizing a unique overall state of the individual.

Dimensional theories emphasize different components of emotion than appraisal theories and link these components guite differently. Dimensional theories foreground the structural and temporal dynamics of core affect and often do not address affect's antecedents in detail. Most significantly, dimensional theorists question the tight causal linkage between appraisal and emotion that is central to appraisal accounts. Dimensional theorists conceive of core affect as a "non-intentional" state, meaning the affect is not about some object (as in "I am angry at him). In such theories, many factors may contribute to a change in core affect including symbolic intentional judgments (e.g., appraisal) but also sub-symbolic factors such as hormones and drugs [97], but most importantly, the link between any preceding intentional meaning and emotion is broken (as it is not represented within core affect) and must be recovered after the fact, sometimes incorrectly [176] [177]. For example, Russell argues for the following sequence of emotional components: some external event occurs (e.g., a bear walks out of the forest), it is perceived in terms of its affective quality; this perception results in a dramatic change in core affect; this change is attributed to some "object" (e.g., the bear); and only then is the object cognitively appraised in terms of its goal relevance, causal antecedents and future prospects. Models influenced by dimensional theories, not surprisingly, emphasize processes associated with core affect and other components (e.g., appraisal) tend to be less elaborately developed. Core affect is typically represented as a continuous time-varying process that is represented at a given period of time by a point in 3-space that is "pushed around" by eliciting events. Computational dimensional models often have detailed mechanisms for how this point changes over time - e.g., decay to some resting state - and incorporating the impact of dispositional tendencies such as personality or temperament [178]. Computational dimensional models are most often used for animated character behaviour generation, perhaps because it translates emotion into a small number of continuous dimensions that can be readily mapped to continuous features of behaviour such as the spatial extent of a gesture. For example, PAD models describe all behaviour in terms of only three dimensions whereas modelers using appraisal models must either associate behaviours with a larger number of appraisal dimensions [166] or map appraisals into a small number of discrete, though perhaps intensity-varying, expressions [179]. For a similar reason, dimensional models also frequently used as a good representational framework for systems that attempt to recognize human emotional behavior and there is some evidence that they may better discriminate user affective states than approaches that rely on discrete labels [174]. The relationship between core affect and cognition is generally less explored in dimensional approaches. Typically the connection between emotion-eliciting events and current core-affective state is not maintained, consistent with Russell's view of emotion as a nonintentional state [180]. Interestingly, we are not aware of any computational models that follow the suggestion from Zajonc and Russell that appraisal is a post hoc explanation of core affect. Rather, many computational models of emotion that incorporate core affect have viewed appraisal as the mechanism that initiates changes to core affect. For example Gebhard ALMA [178] model includes Ortony, Clore and Collins [100] inspired appraisal rules and WASABI [180] incorporates appraisal processes inspired by Scherer's sequential-checking theory into a PAD-based model of core affect. Some computational models explore how core affect can influence cognitive processes. For example, HOTCO 2 [181] allow explanations to be biased by dimensional affect (in this case, a one-dimensional model encoding valence) but this is more naturally seen as the consequence of emotion on cognition (e.g., the modeling of an emotion-focused coping strategy in the sense of Lazarus [98]).





5.3 Anatomic approaches

Anatomic theories stem from an attempt to reconstruct the neural links and processes that underlie organisms' emotional reactions [182] [183]. Unlike appraisal theories, such models tend to emphasize sub-symbolic processes. Unlike dimensional theories, anatomic approaches tend to view emotions as different, discrete neural circuits and emphasize processes or systems associated with these circuits. Thus, anatomically-inspired models tend to foreground certain process assumptions and tend to be less comprehensive than either appraisal or dimensional theories, with researchers focusing on a specific emotion such as fear. For example, LeDoux [183], emphasizes a "high-road" vs. "low-road" distinction in the fear circuit with the later reflecting automatic/reflexive responses to situations whereas the former is mediated by cognition and deliberation. Computational models inspired by the anatomic tradition often focus on low-level perceptual-motor tasks and encode a two-process view of emotion that argues for a fast, automatic, undifferentiated emotional response and a slower, more differentiated response that relies on higher-level reasoning processes Armony et al. [184].

5.4 Rational approaches

Rational approaches start from the question of what adaptive function does emotion serve and then attempt to abstract this function away from its "implementation details" in humans and incorporate these functions into a (typically normative) model of intelligence [185] [186] [187] [188]. Researchers in this tradition typically reside in the field of artificial intelligence and view emotion as window through which one can gain insight into adaptive behavior, albeit it a very different window than has motivated much of artificial intelligence research. Within this tradition, cognition is conceived as a collection of symbolic processes that serve specific cognitive functions and are subject to certain architectural constraints on how they interoperate. Emotion, within this view, is simply another, albeit often overlooked, set of processes and constraints that have adaptive value. Models of this sort are most naturally directed towards the goal of improving theories of machine intelligence.

5.5 Communicative approaches

Communicative theories of emotion argue that emotion processes function as a communicative system; both as a mechanism for informing other individuals of one's mental state – and thereby facilitate social coordination – and as a mechanism for requesting/demanding changes in the behavior of others – as in threat displays [189] [190]. Communicative theories emphasize the social-communicative function of displays and sometimes argue for a disassociation between internal emotional processes and emotion displays which need not be selected on the basis of an internal emotional state [191] Computational models inspired by communicative theories often embrace this disassociation and dispense with the need for an internal emotional model and focusing on machinery that decides when an emotional display will have a desirable effect on a human user. For example, in the Cosmo tutoring system Lester et al. [164], the agent's pedagogical goals drive the selection and sequencing of emotive behaviours. In Cosmo, a congratulatory act triggers a motivational goal to express admiration that is conveyed with applause. Not surprisingly, computational models based on communicative theories are most often directed towards the goal of achieving social influence.



6 Computational Models for Emotional and Affection treatment

In this section we report the original model developed in ALICE for treating the management of emotions and affectivities in the context of learning activity enforced by emotional computing. This contribution is different with respect to that one in the deliverables on the emotional and affective learning, where we report the models to compute the emotional/affective status of the learning. Indeed here we report the strategies for managing the emotive status of the learning into a learning experience or activity.

As integrated activity the model presented here is implemented in WP3, WP4 and WP6 of Alice project. More in details in D6.1.2 Storytelling Design Model (version 2) we implement the model in storytelling experience, while in D4.2.2 - Methods and Techniques for Simulative Content Creation (version 2) we can find the application of the emotional-affective computing model applied to a serious game; at the end in D3.2.2 - Methodologies for Collaborative Complex Learning Object (version 2) we consider the impact of emotional-affective evaluation applied to collaborative learning object.

6.1 Introduction to the Model (I Alice year vs II Alice year)

In the first year of Alice project activity, the mechanism to activate the Affective/Emotive module was based on the level of the skills acquired by a user during a Learning Experience (LE); so then we used emotional-affective model only if the user did not reach a fixed level of knowledge



Figure 6. 1 Mechanism to activate the Affective/Emotive module in first Alice year.

In the final version of the management model, the competences detection will be put beside the emotional detection thanks to some resources able to substain both the components as described in the following pictures. In other word, the emotive/affective components are part of LE as specific object/component of LO as such as other traditional LO competences oriented. The following figure shows the new approach.

Α·L·Ι·C·Ε





Figure 6.2 New mechanism to activate the Affective/Emotive module.

So, in the Figure 6.2 a complex learning object is shown. The assessment of this kind of resource is done by analysing both the competences and the emotional/affective components through a test assessment.

If the assessment results is positive a new complex Learning Object will be shown. In the contrary case different components are taken into account: in the specific a new competences component associated to a more application and a new emotive/affective component having as the purpose a more learner engagement.

6.2 Activation based on Competences

In the first release of model, as reported in Figure 6.1, the test is performed taking into account only the competences aspects. More specifically, what happens in a Learning Experience can be described described by the following scheme.



Figure 6.3- Workflow of the first model version

ALICE – FP7-ICT-2009.4.2-257639 – D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2





In the transition from Learning Object (LO1) to Learning Object (LO2), the cognitive aspect is considered alone by evaluating the skills acquired. Indeed, the skill level is evaluated by evaluating blocks that consist of specific tests (like exercises, questionnaire,...). If the assessment feedback are positive, the learner proceeds with the acquisition of the competences related to the next Learning Object (LO2).

If the assessment results are not sufficient, the system suggests an emotional test. At this point the outcome of the test can be positive or negative. In the event that the test result is positive, the student proceeds with the deal again LO2.

In the event that the test result is negative, a "Human Interaction" is considered with the tutor to whom the system is reaching a chart with information about the alteration of the emotional state of the learner. Therefore, the tutor will help and support the learner through a video call and / or a chat. In this way the elements to correct the point of view based on emotional /affective aspect will be taken into account to motivate the learner to undertake training in action. After this interaction, the learner will be able to resume the path of learning addressing LO1 again.

6.3 Activation based on Competences and Emotion

The objective of the model extended in the second project year is to evaluate both the cognitive and the emotional aspects.

Then, the aim is reached by acting on three levels:

1) Only Skills : this happens when we have a low level of cognitive deficit. In such a case a more detailed learning object is submitted to the learner in order to fill the cognitive gap

2) Emotional Reinforcement : this happens when we have a medium level of cognitive deficit. Indeed in such a case an emotional test is submitted to the learning for testing if an altered emotive component is present.

3) Stress the affective / emotional: this happens when we have a high level of cognitive deficit. In such a case both the aspects, above exposed, must be considered.







Figura 6.4- Workflow of the second model version

As part of a Learning Experience, we consider the transition from a LO1 to LO2 as in the case analyzed above.

After that the LO1 has been shown, it is followed by an assessment phase, that includes emotional and cognitive questions. If both these aspects or just one of them have been negatively judged, the emotional model considers the whole structure of the Learning Object.

It could be or not complex. In the first case it will contain a logic that allow you to reorganize and revive the contents according to the new skills and the emotional state assessed; in this way emotional feedback go through the contents. For example, if we consider as Complex LO, the storytelling resource, the emotional axes (confidence/anxiety-interest/disinterest- excitement/indifference-selfconfidence/frustration) have been mapped on the narrative archetypes. This mapping will allow to orient the story design through the re-addressing of the role micro-adaptivity.

What happens when the LO is not complex? There is a need for rebalancing. At this point the learner can choose to use or not a rebalancing LO. If the rebalancing LO isn't taken into account, an interaction with the tutor is foreseen. In the contrary case the rebalancing LO is constituted by a simple LO appropriately created by a domain experts in cooperation with the instructional designers. The purpose of this object is to stimulate one of the emotional axes, managing, in a such a way, the emotional feedbacks. That, it is obtained through a specific metadata associated to the LO.





References

- [1]. Bower G H & Hilgard E R. *Theories of learning*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1981. 647 p. [Stanford University, CA]
- [2]. Bloom, B. (Ed.), *Taxonomy of Educational Objectives: The Classification of Educational Goals*: Handbook I, Cognitive Domain. Longmans, Green, New York / Toronto, 1956.
- [3]. Krathwohl, D., Bloom, B., & Masia, B., *Taxonomy of educational objectives*. Handbook II: Affective Domain. David McKay, New York, 1956.
- [4]. McLeod, D., Research on affect and Mathematics learning in the JRME: 1970 to the present, Journal for Research in Mathematics Education, Vol. 25, No. 6, pp 637–647, 1994.
- [5]. Shelton, C., *Portraits in emotional awareness*. Educational Leadership, pp 330 –32, September, 2000.
- [6]. Postle, G., Putting the heart back into learning. In: Boud, D., Cohen, R. & Walker, D. (Eds.), Using Experience for Learning, SRHE & Open University Press, Buckingham, 33-45, 1993.
- [7]. Gardner, H., *Frames of Mind: The Theory of Multiple Intelligences*, Basic Books, New York, 1983.
- [8]. Goleman, D., *Emotional Intelligence*, Bantam Books, New York, 1995.
- [9]. Ferro, T., *The influence of affective processing in education and training*, New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education, Vol. 59, pp 25-33, 1995.
- [10]. Palombo Weiss, R., *Emotion and learning, Training and Development*, Vol. 54, No. 11, pp 44–48, 2000.
- [11]. Clore, G. & Gasper, K., Feeling is believing: Some affective influences on belief. In Frijda, N., Manstead, A. & Bem, S. (Eds.) Emotions and Beliefs: How Feelings Influence Thoughts, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1-9, 2000.
- [12]. Cookson, P., Implications of internet technologies for higher education: North American perspectives, Open Learning, Vol.15, No.1, pp 71-81, 2000.
- [13]. Kort, B., Reilly, R. & Picard, R., External representation of learning process and domain knowledge: Affective state as a determinate of its structure and function. Paper presented at the 10th International Conference on Artificial Intelligence in Education, San Antonio, Texas, 2001. http://affect.media.mit.edu/AC_research/lc/AI-ED.html
- [14]. Immordino-Yang, M. H. & Damasio, A. We Feel, Therefore We Learn: The Relevance of Affective and Social Neuroscience to Education, Mind, Brain and Education, 2007, Vol.1, No. 1.
- [15]. Pekrun, R. *Progress and open problems in educational emotion research*, Learning and Instruction, 2005, 15, pp. 497-506.
- [16]. Boekaerts M. Towards a model that integrates motivation, affect and learning. British Journal of Educational Psychology Monograph, 2003, Series II, 2; Development and Motivation, 173-18.





- [17]. Pekrun R, Goetz T, Titz W, & Perry RP. Academic emotions in students' self-regulated learning and achievement: A program of qualitative and quantitative research. Educational Psychologist, 2002, 37, 91-105.
- [18]. Meyer DK, Turner JC. *Discovering emotion in classroom motivation research*. Educational Psychologist, 2002, 37, 107-114.
- [19]. Kort B, Reilly R & Picard RW. An affective model of interplay between emotions and learning: reengineering educational pedagogy building a learning companion. Proc. ICALT, 2001, Madison.
- [20]. O'Regan K. *Emotion and e-learning.* Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks, 2003, 7(3), 78-92.
- [21]. Craig SD, Graesser AC, Sullins J & Gholson B. *Affect and learning: an exploratory look into the role of affect in learning with AutoTutor.* J. of Educational Media, 2004, 29, 241-250.
- [22]. Jarvenoja, H. and Jarvela, S. How students describe the sources of their emotional and motivational experiences during the learning process: A qualitative approach. Learning and Instruction, 2005, 15(5), pp 465-480.
- [23]. Wosnitza, M. and Volet, S. Origin, direction and impact of emotions in social online learning. Learning and Instruction, 2005, 15(5), pp 440-464.
- [24]. Picard RW, Papert S, Bender W, Blumberg B, Breazeal C, Cavallo D, Machover T, Resnick M, Roy D, Strohecker C. Affective Learning-a manifesto. BT Technology Journal, 2004, 22, 253-269
- [25]. Du Boulay B, Luckin R. *Modelling Human Teaching Tactics and Strategies for Tutoring Systems*, Intl. J. of Artificial Intelligence in Education, 2001,12, 235-256
- [26]. Tractinsky, N., Katz, A.S., & Ikar, D. (2000). *What is beautiful is usable*. Interacting with Computers, 13, 127-145.
- [27]. Eunjoon Rachel, Ph.D., *New York University. The effect of positive emotions on cognitive processes in multimedia-based learning*, 2008, 143 pages.
- [28]. Seibert, P. S., & Ellis, H. C. (1991a). Irrelevant thoughts, emotional mood states, and cognitive task performance. Memory and Cognition, 19, 507-513.
- [29]. Seibert, P. S., & Ellis, H. C. (1991b). A convenient self-referencing mood induction procedure. Bulletin of the Psychonomic Society, 29, 121-124.
- [30]. Lidwell, W., Holden, K. & Butler, J. (2003). *Universal Principles of Design*. Massachusetts: Rockport Publishers, Inc.
- [31]. Mayer, R.E. (2001). *Multimedia Learning*. Cambridge University Press.
- [32]. Sweller, J. (1994). Cognitive load theory, learning difficulty and instructional design. Learning Instruction, 4, 295-312.
- [33]. Picard, R. (2003) *Affective Computing: Challenges. MIT Media Laboratory*. Retrieved on December 2004 from http://affect.media.mit.edu/pdfs/03.picard.pdf.
- [34]. Clark, R. & Mayer, R.E. (2003). *E-learning and the Science of Instruction*. Pfeiffer, USA.
- [35]. Martinez, M. (2001). Key Design Considerations for Personalized Learning on the Web. Educational Technology & Society 4(1) 2001. Retrieved on December 2004 from http://ifets.ieee.org/periodical/vol_1_2001/martinez.html.





- [36]. Jenks, M. & Springer, J. (2002). A View of the Research on the Efficacy of CAI. Electronic Journal for the Integration of Technology in Education, vol. 1, no. 2. Retrieved on October 2004 from http://ejite.isu.edu/Volume1No2/Jenks.pdf.
- [37]. Efficacy beliefs and performance outcome expectancies (adapted from Bandura, 1997)
- [38]. Kort, B.; Reilly, R. & Picard, R. (2001a). An Affective Model of Interplay Between Emotions and Learning: Reengineering Educational Pedagogy—Building a Learning Companion.
 M.I.T. Media, Laboratory. Retrieved on December 2004 from http://www.media.mit.edu/affect/AC_research/lc
- [39]. Jaques, P. & Viccari, R. (2004). A BDI Approach to Infer Student's Emotions. PPGC-Instituto de Informática - Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul. Retrieved on November 2004 from http://www.inf.ufrgs.br/~pjaques/papers/Jaques_IBERAMIA.pdf.
- [40]. Buber M., Il principio dialogico e altri saggi, Cinisello Balsamo, Ed. San Paolo, 1993
- [41]. Bloom B.S., Caratteristiche umane e apprendimento scolastico, Roma, Armando, 1979.
- [42]. Norman, D. A. (1981). *Twelve Issues for Cognitive Science*. In Perspectives on Cognitive Science (pp. 265-295). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- [43]. Bransford, J. D., Brown, A.L. and R. R. Cocking (Ed.) 2000, *How People Learn: Brain, Mind, Experience and School*, Committee on Developments in the Science of Learning, NRC Commission on Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education. Washington DC: Naitonal Academy Press.
- [44]. Burleson, W., Picard, R.W. (2004). Affective Agents: Sustaining Motivation to Learn Through Failure and a State of Stuck, Social and Emotional Intelligence in Learning Environments Workshop. 7th International Conference on Intelligent Tutoring Systems, August 31, 2004, Maceio - Alagolas, Brasil.
- [45]. Goleman, D. (1995). *Emotional Intelligence*. NY: Bantam Books.
- [46]. Lepper, M. R., Chabay, R. W. (1988). Socialising the intelligent tutor: bringing empathy to computer tutors. Learning issues for intelligent tutoring systems, 242-257.
- [47]. Mandler, G. (1984). *Mind and Body: Psychology of Emotion and Stress*. New York, NY: W W Norton & Co.
- [48]. Kort, B., Reilly, R., Picard, R. W. (2001). External representation of learning process and domain knowledge: affective state as a determinate of its structure and function. Workshop on Artificial Intelligence in Education (AI-ED 2001), San Antonio.
- [49]. Isen, A. M. (2000). *Positive Affect and Decision Making*. In M. Lewis, Haviland, J. (Ed.), Handbook of Emotions. New York: Guilford.
- [50]. Vroom, V. H. (1964). Work and Motivation. New York: Wiley.
- [51]. Keller, J. M. (Ed.). (1983). Motivational design of instruction. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- [52]. Pajares, F. (1996). *Self-efficacy beliefs in academic settings*. Review of Educational Research, 66, 543-578.
- [53]. Schunk, D. H. (1989). Self-efficacy and achievement behaviors. Educational Psychology Review, 1, 173-208.
- [54]. Zimmerman, B. J. (2000). *Self-Efficacy: An Essential Motive to Learn*. Contemporary Educational Psychology, 25, 82-91.





- [55]. Dweck, C. S. (1986). *Motivational Processes Affecting Learning*. American Psychologist, 41, 1040-1048.
- [56]. Dweck, C. S. (1999). *Self-Theories: Their role in motivation, personality and development.* Philadelphia: Psychology Press.
- [57]. Dweck, C. S., & Leggett, E. L. (1988). A Social-Cognitive Approach to Motivation and Personality. Psychological Review, 95, 256-273.
- [58]. Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1990). *Flow, the Psychology of Optimal Experience*. New York, NY: Harper Perennial.
- [59]. Giuseppe, L., Brass, D. (2003). Exploring the Social Ledger: Negative Relationships and Negative Asymmetry in Social Networks in Organizations. Academy of Management Review, Special issue: Building Effective Networks.
- [60]. LeDoux, J., E. (1999). *The Emotional Brain: The Mysterious Underpinnings of Emotional Life*, Phoenix, London, 1999.
- [61]. Davou, B. (2007). Interaction of Emotion and Cognition in the Processing of Textual Material. Meta:journal des traducteurs / Meta: Translators' Journal, vol. 52, n° 1, 2007, p. 37-47.
- [62]. Damasio, A. (1999). Feeling of what happens: Body and emotion in the making of consciousness. New York: Harcourt, Inc.
- [63]. James, W. (1890). The principles of psychology. New York: Henry Holt and Company.
- [64]. LeDoux, J. (1996). *The emotional brain*. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- [65]. Davidson, R. J., & Harrington, A. (Eds.). (2002). *Visions of compassion: Western scientists* and *Tibetan Buddhists examine human nature.* Oxford: Oxford Press.
- [66]. Scherer, K. R. (1993). Plato's legacy: Relationships between cognition, emotion, and motivation. Paper presented at the Societe Psychologique de Quebec, Quebec and the Assoziatione Italiana de la Psicologia delle Emozioni, Milano.
- [67]. Salovey, P., & Mayer, J. D. (1990). *Emotional intelligence*. Imagination, Cognition, and Personality, 9(3), 185-211.
- [68]. Gardner, H. (2003, April 21). Multiple intelligences after twenty years. Paper presented at the American Educational Research Association. Retrieved February 25, 2004, from http://www.pz.harvard.edu/PIs/HG_MI_after_20_years.pdf
- [69]. Salovey P., & Sluyter, D. (1997). *Emotional development and emotional intelligence: Educational implications.* New York: Harper Collins.
- [70]. Salovey, P., & Mayer, J. D. (1990). Emotional intelligence. *Imagination, Cognition, and Personality*, 9(3), 185-211.
- [71]. Thorndike, R. L., & Stein, S. (1937). An evaluation of the attempts to measure social *intelligence*. Psychological Bulletin, 34, 275-284.
- [72]. Weinstein, E. A. (1969). The development of interpersonal competence. In D. A. Goslin (Ed.), Handbook of Socialization Theory and Research (pp. 753-775). Chicago, IL: Rand McNally.
- [73]. Denzin, N. (1984). On understanding emotion. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.





- [74]. Averill, J. (1980). A constructionist view of emotion. In F. Plutchik & H. Kellerman (Eds.), Emotion, theory, research, and experience theories of emotion (1st ed., pp. 305-337). New York: Academic Press.
- [75]. Munro, J. S. (1998). Presence at a distance: The educator-learner relationship in distance learning. *ACSDE Research Monograph 16*. University Park, PA: Pennsylvania State University.
- [76]. Reigeluth, C. M. (1996). A new paradigm of ISD? Educational Technology, 36(3), 3-20.
- [77]. Pinker, S. (1997). *How the mind works*. New York: W. W. Norton and Company.
- [78]. Hargreaves, A. (2001). Emotional geographies of teaching. *Teachers College Record,* 103(6), 1056-1083. Retrieved March 8, 2004, from http://www.tcrecord.org/content.asp?contentid=10838.
- [79]. <u>http://www.greatschools.org/parenting/teaching-values/the-role-of-emotions-in-learning.gs?content=751</u>
- [80]. Seligman, Martin E. P. (1993). What You Can Change and What You Can't: The Complete Guide to Successful Self-Improvement. New York: Knopf. <u>ISBN 0-679-41024-4</u>(Paperback reprint edition, Ballantine Books, 1995, <u>ISBN 0-449-90971-9</u>)
- [81]. Seligman, Martin E. P. (2004). "Can Happiness be Taught?". <u>Daedalus</u>, Spring 2004.
- [82]. Pekrun, R., Elliot, A. J., & Maier, M. A. (2006). Achievement goals and discrete achievement emotions: a theoretical model and prospective test. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *98*, 583-597.
- [83]. Hascher, T. (2010). Learning and Emotion: perspectives for theory and research. *European Educational Research Journal*, 9, 13-28.
- [84]. C. Darwin, Expression of the Emotions in Man and Animals. Oxford Univ. Press, Inc., 2002.
- [85]. Ortony, A. & Turner, T. J. (1990). What's basic about basic emotions? Psychological Review, 97, 315-331.
- [86]. J. Russell, "Is There Universal Recognition of Emotion from Facial Expression?: A Review of the Cross-Cultural Studies," Psychological Bull., vol. 115, pp. 102-141, 1994.
- [87]. Tomkins, S.S. Affect, Imagery. Consciousness, (Vol. 1). New York, Springer Publishing Co. 1962.
- [88]. C. Izard, The Face of Emotion. Appleton-Century-Crofts, 1971.
- [89]. C. Izard, "Innate and Universal Facial Expressions: Evidence from Developmental and Cross-Cultural Research," Psychological Bull., vol. 115, pp. 288-299, 1994.
- [90]. N. Frijda, "Emotion, Cognitive Structure, and Action Tendency," Cognition and Emotion, vol. 1, pp. 115-143, 1987.
- [91]. I. Arroyo, D.G. Cooper, W. Burleson, B.P. Woolf, K. Muldner, and R. Christopherson, "Emotion Sensors Go to School," Proc. 14th Conf. Artificial Intelligence in Education, pp. 17-24, 2009.
- [92]. M.B. Arnold, Emotion and Personality Vol. 1 & 2. Columbia Univ. Press, 1960.
- [93]. C. Smith and P. Ellsworth, "Patterns of Cognitive Appraisal in Emotion," J. Personality and Social Psychology, vol. 48, pp. 813-838, 1985.





- [94]. K. Scherer, A. Schorr, and T. Johnstone, Appraisal Processes in Emotion: Theory, Methods, Research. Oxford Univ. Press, 2001.
- [95]. I.J. Roseman, M.S. Spindel, and J.P.E., "Appraisals of Emotion Eliciting Events: Testing a Theory of Discrete Emotions," J. Personality and Social Psychology, vol. 59, pp. 899-915, 1990.
- [96]. Schachter, S. & Singer, J. E. (1962). Cognitive, Social, and Physiological Determinants of Emotional State. Psychological Review, 69(5), 379-399.
- [97]. Lazarus, R.S., (1991b). Emotion and Adaptation. Oxford University Press, New York, NY.
- [98]. I.J. Roseman, "Cognitive Determinants of Emotion," Emotions, Relationships and Health, pp. 11-36, Beverly Hills Publishing, 1984.
- [99]. Ortony, A., Collins A., Clore. G. L., (1988). The Cognitive Structure of Emotions Cambridge University Press.
- [100]. A. Glenberg, D. Havas, R. Becker, and M. Rinck, "Grounding Language in Bodily States: The Case for Emotion," The Grounding of Cognition: The Role of Perception and Action in Memory, Language, and Thinking, R.A.Z.D. Pecher, ed., pp. 115-128, Cambridge Univ. Press, 2005.
- [101]. J.A. Russell, "Core Affect and the Psychological Construction of Emotion," Psychological Rev., vol. 110, pp. 145-172, 2003.
- [102]. J. Stets and J. Turner, "The Sociology of Emotions," Handbook of Emotions, M. Lewis, J. Haviland-Jones, and L. Barrett, eds., third ed., pp. 32-46, The Guilford Press, 2008.
- [103]. P. Salovey, "Introduction: Emotion and Social Processes," Handbook of Affective Sciences, R.J. Davidson, K.R. Scherer, and H.H. Goldsmith, eds., Oxford Univ. Press, 2003.
- [104]. Hannaford, C. (1995). *Smart moves: Why learning is not all in your head.* Arlington, VA: Great Ocean Publishers.
- [105]. Matherne, B. (1997). Book Review "The Emotional Brain by Joseph LeDoux".
- [106]. Daradoumis, A., Feidakis, M. (2010). A five-layer approach in Collaborative Learning Systems design with respect to emotion. In: Intelligent Networking and Collaborative Systems. Washington, DC: IEEE Computer Society.
- [107]. http://dstrong.blog.uvm.edu/neuroblog/2007/06/ .
- [108]. Frijda, N.H., (1986). The Emotions. Studies in Emotion and Social Interaction. Cambridge University Press, New York
- [109]. Scherer, K. R. (1993). Studying the emotion-antecedent appraisal process: An expert system approach, Cognition and Emotion,7, 325-355.
- [110]. Velasquez,J. (1997) Modelling Emotions and Other Motivations in Synthetic Agents. Proceedings of AAAI-97
- [111]. Canamero, D., (1998). Issues in the design of emotional agents. In:Proceedin gs of Emotional and Intelligent: The Tangled Knot of Cognition. AAAI Fall Symposium, TR FS-98-03. AAAI Press, Menlo Park, CA, pp. 49–54
- [112]. Castelfranchi, C., (2000). Affective appraisal versus cognitive evaluations in social emotions and interactions. In:Paiva, A. (Ed.), Affective Interactions: Towards a New Generation of Affective Interfaces. Springer, New York.





- [113]. Breazeal, C., 2003. Emotion and sociable humanoid robots.
- [114]. Bates, J., Loyall, A.B., Reilly, W.S., (1992). Integrating reactivity, goals, and emotion in a broad agent. In: Proceedings of the 14th Meeting of the Cognitive Science Society, Boulder, CO.
- [115]. Andre, E., Klesen, M., Gebhard, P., Allen, S., Rist, T., (2000). Integrating models of personality and emotions in lifelike characters. In:Proceedings of IWAI, Siena, Italy.
- [116]. Elliot, C., Lester, J., Rickel, J., (1999). Lifelike pedagogical agents and affective computing: an exploratory synthesis. In: Wooldridge, M., Veloso, M. (Eds.), AI Today. Lecture Notes in AI. Springer, New York.
- [117]. Ioannou, S., Raouzaiou, A., Tzouvaras, V., Mailis, T., Karpouzis, K., Kollias S. (2005) Emotion recognition through facial expression analysis based on a neurofuzzy network, Special Issue on Emotion: Understanding & Recognition, Neural Networks, Elsevier, Volume 18, Issue 4, Pages 423-435
- [118]. Malatesta, L., Raouzaiou, A., Karpouzis, K. and Kollias S. (2007) MPEG-4 facial expression synthesis. Personal and Ubiquitous Computing, Special issue on Emerging Multimodal Interfaces, Springer.
- [119]. Raouzaiou, A.; Tsapatsoulis, N.; Karpouzis, K. & Kollias, S., (2002) Parameterized facial expression synthesis based on MPEG-4 Eurasip Journal on Applied Signal Processing, Vol. 2002, No 10, pp. 1021-1038.
- [120]. Frijda, N.H., Swagerman, J., (1987). Can computers feel? Theory and design of an emotional system. Cognition and Emotion 1 (3), 235–257.
- [121]. Araujo, A.F.R., (1993). Emotions influencing cognition. In:WAUM E '93:Workshop on Architectures Underlying Motivation and Emotion, The University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK.
- [122]. Gratch, J. & Marsella, S. (2004) A domain-independent framework for modeling emotion Cognitive Systems Research, 5, 269-306
- [123]. Sloman, A. (2001). Beyond shallow models of emotions. Cognitive Processing, 2(1):177--198.
- [124]. Jones, R., Henninger, A., Chown, E., (2002). Interfacing emotional behavior moderators with intelligent synthetic forces. In: Proceedin gs of the 11th Conference on Computer Generated Forces and Behaviour Representation, Orlando, FL.
- [125]. Davou, B. (2000). Thought Processes in the Era of Information: Issues on Cognitive Psychology and Communication. Papazissis Publishers, Athens.
- [126]. (<u>http://emotion-research.net</u>).
- [127]. http://people.ict.usc.edu/~gratch/links.html.
- [128]. Ekman, P., Friesen, WV., & Tomkins, S.S. Facial affect scoring technique, (FAST) a first validity study. Semiotica, 1971, 3(1), 37-38.
- [129]. Izard, C. E. (1977). Human emotions. New York: Plenum Press.
- [130]. Plutchik, R. (1980). A general psychoevolutionary theory of emotion. In R. Plutchik & H. Kellerman (Eds.), Emotion: Theory, research, and experience: Vol. 1. Theories of emotion (pp. 3-33). New York: Academic.
- [131]. Galati, (a cura di): Le emozioni primarie. Torino: Bollati Boringhieri, 1993.

ALICE – FP7-ICT-2009.4.2-257639 – D2.1.2: Learning Experience and Advanced Learning Resources v2





- [132]. Osgood, C.E., Suci, G., & Tannenbaum, P. (1957) The measurement of meaning. Urbana, IL: University of Illinois Press.
- [133]. Russell JA. A circumplex model of affect. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology. 1980;39:1161–1178.
- [134]. http://changingminds.org/explanations/emotions/basic%20emotions.htm.
- [135]. Ekman, P., Friesen, W. V., Ellsworth, P. (1972) Emotion in the human face: Guidelines for research and an integration of findings. New York: Pergamon Press. http://www.paulekman.com/downloadablearticles.html (2007-06-26).
- [136]. Ekman, P.Facial expressions of emotion: New findings, new questions. Psychological Science, 1992, 3,34-38.
- [137]. <u>http://www.burlington.mec.edu/~bercury/FOV10001B1B3/Course%20Units/Image%20Gall</u> ery/
- [138]. <u>http://www.andreaflego.it/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=2&Itemid=12</u>.
- [139]. Kort, B., Reilly, R., Picard, R.W. (2001). An Affective Model of Interplay Between Emotions and Learning: Reengineering Educational Pedagogy-Building a Learning Companion. in Proceedings of International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT 2001), Madison Wisconsin, August 2001.
- [140]. Fagerberg, P., Ståhl, A., & Höök, K. (2004). eMoto: emotionally engaging interaction. Personal and Ubiquitous Computing, 8 (5), 377-381.
- [141]. Leon, E., Clarke, G., & Callaghan, V. (2007). A user-independent real-time emotion recognition system for software agents in domestic environments. International Journal of Intelligent Real-time Automation, 20 (3), 337-345.
- [142]. Warr, P. (2007). Work, happiness, and unhappiness. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- [143]. Freedmann, J. L. (1978). What happiness is, who has it, and why. New York: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich.
- [144]. Saarni, C. (1999). Development of emotional competence. New York: Guilford Press.
- [145]. Russell, J. A., & Fehr, B. Fuzzy concepts in a fuzzy hierarchy: Varieties of anger. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 67(2), 186-205.
- [146]. Russell J. A., Carroll, J. M. (1999). On the bipolarity of positive and negative affect. Psychology Bulletin, 125, 3–30.
- [147]. Lang P. J., Bradley, M.M., & Cuthbert, B.N. (1998). Emotion, motivation, and anxiety: Brain mechanisms and psychophysiology. Biological Psychiatry, 44, 1248–1263.
- [148]. Larsen, R. J., Diener, E. (1992). Promises and problems with the circumplex model of emotion. In: Clark M. S., (ed.) Review of personality and social psychology. Vol. 13. Newbury Park, CA: Sage; 1992. pp. 25–59.
- [149]. Thayer, R.E. (1989). The origin of everyday moods: Managing energy, tension and stress. New York: Oxford University Press.
- [150]. Conati, C., & Zhou, X. (2002). Modeling students' emotions from cognitive appraisal in educational games. In S. A. Cerri, G. Gouardères & F. Paraguaçu (Eds.), Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Intelligent Tutoring Systems, London: Springer, 944-954.





- [151]. Katsionis, G., & Virvou, M. (2005). Adapting OCC theory for affect perception in educational software. Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction, Mahwah, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- [152]. Katsionis G., Virvou M., Adapting OCC theory for affect perception in educational software, Proceedings of the International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction 2005 (HCI 2005), Las Vegas, USA
- [153]. Hanjalic A., Xu L.Q., Affective Video Content Representation and Modeling, IEEE TRANSACTIONS ON MULTIMEDIA, VOL. 7, NO. 1, 2005
- [154]. Manstead, A., Fischer, A. H. & Jakobs, E. B. (1999) The Social and Emotional Functions of Facial Displays. In Philippot, P., Feldman, R. S. & Coats, E. J. (Eds.) The Social Context of Nonverbal Behavior (Studies in Emotion and Social Interaction). Cambridge Univ Press.
- [155]. Smith, C. A. & Scott, H. S. (1997) A Componential Approach to the meaning of facial expressions. In Russell, J. A. & Fernández-Dols, J. M. (Eds.) The Psychology of Facial Expression. Paris, Cambridge University Press.
- [156]. Thomas, F. & Johnston, O. (1995) The Illusion of Life: Disney Animation, New York, Hyperion.
- [157]. Kramer, N. C., Tietz, B. & Bente, G. (2003) Effects of embodied interface agents and their gestural activity. Intelligent Virtual Agents. Kloster Irsee, Germany, Springer.
- [158]. Cowell, A. & Stanney, K. M. (2003) Embodiement and Interaction Guidelines for Designing Credible, Trustworthy Embodied Conversational Agents. Intelligent Virtual Agents. Kloster Irsee, Germany, Springer-Verlag.
- [159]. Paiva, A., Aylett, R. & Marsella, S. (2004) AAMAS Workshop on Empathic Agents. New York.
- [160]. Lepper, M. R. (1988) Motivational Considerations in the Study of Instruction. Cognition and Instruction, 5(4), 289-309.
- [161]. Klesen, M. (2005) Using Theatrical Concepts for Role-Plays with Educational Agents. Applied Artificial Intelligence special Issue "Educational Agents - Beyond Virtual Tutors", 19, 413-431.
- [162]. Nakanishi, H., Shimizu, S. & Isbister, K. (2005) Sensitizing Social Agents for Virtual Training. Applied Artificial Intelligence special Issue "Educational Agents - Beyond Virtual Tutors", 19, 341-362.
- [163]. Lester, J. C., Towns, S. G., Callaway, C. B., Voerman, J. L. & Fitzgerald, P. J. (2000) Deictic and Emotive Communication in Animated Pedagogical Agents. In Cassell, J., Prevost, S., Sullivan, J. & Churchill, E. (Eds.) Embodied Conversational Agents. Cambridge, MIT Press.
- [164]. Martin J.R., Rose david, "Appraisal: negotiating attitudes", in Martin J.R., Rose david, Working with Discourse. Meaning beyond the clause, continuum, London, 2003, p. 22.
- [165]. Scherer, K. R. & Ellgring, H. (2007) Are facial expressions of emotion produced by categorical affect programs or dynamically driven by appraisal? Emotion.
- [166]. Marsella, S. & Gratch, J. (2009). EMA: A Model of Emotional Dynamics. Journal of Cognitive Systems Research, 10(1), 70-90.





- [167]. El Nasr, M. S., Yen, J. & loerger, T. (2000) Flame: Fuzzy Logic Adaptive Model of Emotions. Autonomous Agents and Multi-Agent Systems, 3, 219-257.
- [168]. Marinier, R. P., Laird, J. E. & Lewis, R. L. (2009) A computational unification of cognitive behavior and emotion. Cognitive Systems Research, 10, 48-69.
- [169]. Neal Reilly, W. S. (1996) Believable Social and Emotional Agents. Pittsburgh, PA, Carnegie Mellon University.
- [170]. Paiva, A., Dias, J. & Aylett, R. (2005) Learning by Fealing: Evoking Empathy with Synthetic Characters. Applied Artificial Intelligence special issue on "Educational Agents - Beyond Virtual Tutors", 19, 235-266.
- [171]. White P.R.R., "Attitude/Affect", http://www.grammatics.com/appraisal/AppraisalGuide/Stage1-Attitude-Affect.doc, (20 ottobre 2007).
- [172]. cfr. White P.R.R., "Attitude/Judgement", <u>http://www.grammatics.com/appraisal/</u> AppraisalGuide/Stage2-Attitude-Judgement.doc, (20 ottobre 2007), e Martin J.R., Rose d., op. cit., pp. 28-32.
- [173]. Barrett, L. F. (2006) Emotions as natural kinds? Perspectives on Psychological Science, 1, 28-58.
- [174]. Mehrabian, A. & Russell, J. A. (1974) An Approach to Environmental Psychology, Cambridge, Mass, The MIT Press.
- [175]. Clore, G. & Plamer, J. (2009) Affective guidance of intelligent agents: How emotion controls cognition. Cognitive Systems Research, 10, 21-30.
- [176]. Clore, G., Schwarz, N. & Conway, M. (1994) Affect as information. IN FORGAS, J. P. (Ed.) Handbook of affect and social cognition. Mahwah, NJ, Lawrence Erlbaum.
- [177]. Gebhard, P. (2005) Alma A Layered Model of Affect. Fourth International Joint Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems. Utrecht.
- [178]. Elliott, C. (1992) The affective reasoner: A process model of emotions in a multi-agent system. Northwestern, IL, Northwestern University Institute for the Learning Sciences.
- [179]. Becker-Asano, C. & Wachsmuth, I. (2008) Affect Simulation with Primary and Secondary Emotions. 8th International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents. Tokyo, Springer.
- [180]. Thagard, P. (2003) Why wasn't O. J. convicted: emotional coherence in legal inference. Cognition and Emotion, 17, 361-383.
- [181]. Panskepp, J. (1998) Affective Neuroscience: The Foundations of Human and Animal Emotions, New York, Oxford University Press.
- [182]. Ledoux, J. (1996) The Emotional Brain: The Mysterious Underpinnings of Emotional Life, New York, NY, Simon & Schuster.
- [183]. Armony, J. L., Servan-Schreiber, D., Cohen, J. D. & Ledoux, J. E. (1997) Computational modeling of emotion: Explorations through the anatomy and physiology of fear conditioning. Trends in Cognitive Science, 1, 28-34.
- [184]. Anderson, J. R. & Lebiere, C. (2003) The Newell Test for a theory of cognition. Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 26, 587-640.
- [185]. Sloman, A. & Croucher, M. (1981) Why robots will have emotions. International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence. Vancouver, Canada.





- [186]. Scheutz, M. & Sloman, A. (2001) Affect and agent control: experiments with simple affective states. IAT. World Scientific Publisher.
- [187]. Frank, R. (1988) Passions with reason: the strategic role of the emotions, New York, NY, W. W. Norton.
- [188]. Keltner, D. & Haidt, J. (1999) Social Functions of Emotions at Four Levels of Anysis. Cognition and Emotion, 13, 505-521.
- [189]. Parkinson, B. (2009) What holds emotions together? Meaning and response coordination. Cognitive Systems Research, 10, 31-47.
- [190]. Gratch, J. (2008) True emotion vs. Social Intentions in Nonverbal Communication: Towards a Synthesis for Embodied Conversational Agents. In Wachmuth, I. & Knoblich, G. (Eds.) Modeling Communication with Robots and Virtual Humans. Berlin, Springer.
- [191]. Baron-Cohen, S., Golan, O., Wheelwright, S., & Hill, J. J. (2004). *Mindreading: The interactive guide to emotions*, London: Jessica Kingsley Limited (www.jkp.com).
- [192]. Damasio, A. (1996). *Descartes's error: emotion, reason, and the human brain.* London: Papermac.
- [193]. Davidson, R. J., Scherer, K. R. and Goldsmith, H. H. (2003). Handbook of Affective Sciences, Oxford: Univ. Press
- [194]. Davou, B. (2007). Interaction of emotion and cognition in the processing of textual material. *Meta:journal des traducteurs / Meta: Translators' Journal, 52(1), 37-47*
- [195]. Ekman, P., & Friesen, W.V. (1978). *Facial Action Coding System: A technique for the measurement of facial movement.* Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press
- [196]. Feidakis, M., & Daradoumis, T., & Caballé, S. (2011a). Endowing e-learning systems with emotion awarenes. Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Networking and Collaborative Systems (INCOS), Fukuoka, Japan November 30 - December 2, 2011
- [197]. Hascher, T., (2010). Learning and emotion: perspectives for theory and research. *European Educational Research Journal, 9, p. 13-28*
- [198]. Kort, B., and Reilly, R. (2002). Analytical models of emotions, learning and relationships: towards an affect-sensitive cognitive machine. *Proceedings of the International Conference* on Virtual Worlds and Simulation (VWSim 2002), San Antonio Texas. Retrieved from http://affect.media.mit.edu/projectpages/lc/vworlds.pdf
- [199]. Ortony, A., Clore, G.L., & Collins, A. (1988). *The cognitive structure of emotions*. UK Cambridge: University Press
- [200]. Parrott, W. (2001). Emotions in social psychology. London: Psychology Press.
- [201]. Plutchik, R., (2001). The nature of emotions. American Scientist, 89(4), 344-351
- [202]. Pekrun, R. (1992). The impact of emotions on learning and achievement: Towards a theory of cognitive/motivational mediators, *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 41(4), Oct 1992
- [203]. Scherer, K. R. (2005). What are emotions? And how can they be measured? In *Social Science Information, 44(4), 693-727*





[204]. Zimmermann, P., G. (2008). Beyond usability-Measuring aspects of user experience. (Doctoral. dissertation, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, Zurich). Retrieved July 13th, 2011 from <u>http://e-collection.library.ethz.ch/eserv/eth:41599/eth-41599-02.pdf</u>